

Introducing Driverless Cars to UK Roads

WORK PACKAGE 5.3

Deliverable D11

Understanding interactions between autonomous vehicles and other road users

A Literature Review

John Parkin Ben Clark William Clayton Miriam Ricci Graham Parkhurst

June 2016

Preferred Citation: Parkin, J., Clark, B., Clayton, W., Ricci, M. and Parkhurst, G. (2016) *Understanding interactions between autonomous vehicles and other road users: A Literature Review.* Project Report. University of the West of England, Bristol. Available from: <u>http://eprints.uwe.ac.uk/29153</u>

Centre for Transport & Society

Department of Geography and Environmental Management

University of the West of England

Bristol

BS16 1QY

UK

Email Address: AV.Research@uwe.ac.uk



Contents

1	INT	RODUCTION	5
	1.1	THE NATURE OF AUTONOMOUS VEHICLES	. 5
	1.2	USE SCENARIOS	. 6
	1.3	AUTONOMOUS VEHICLE TRIALS	. 7
	1.4	COLLISIONS, CONFLICTS AND INTERACTIONS	. 8
	1.5	SUMMARY AND STRUCTURE OF REMAINDER OF THE REVIEW	10
2	VE	HICLE-TO-VEHICLE AND VEHICLE-WITH-INFRASTRUCTURE INTERACTIONS	.10
	2.1	TYPOLOGY OF INTERACTIONS	11
	2.2	LINKS	11
	2.3	JUNCTIONS	13
	2.3.	<i>1 Priority junctions</i>	13
	2.3.2	2 Roundabouts	16
	2.3.	3 Grade separated junctions	16
	2.3.4	4 Signal Controlled junctions	16
	2.3.3	6 Modern street design and shared space	17
	2.4	SIGNS AND TRAFFIC REGULATIONS	1/ 10
	2.5	SOCIAL INTERACTIONS IN THE ROAD ENVIRONMENT	18
	2.3.	I Conjuci (rouu ruge)	10
•	2.0		22
3	INI	ERACTIONS BETWEEN VEHICLES AND BICYCLES	.22
	3.1		22
	3.2	THE BUILT ENVIRONMENT AND BEHAVIOURAL MOTIVATORS	23
	3.3	CYCLING AND RISK FROM MOTORISED TRAFFIC: THE GENERAL ISSUES	24
	3.3.	Classifications of collision types	24
	3.7	I INK AND LUNCTION INTER ACTIONS	20
	3.4	1 Accentability models of cycling on links	27
	3.4	2 Overtaking distance and lane markings	28
	3.4.	3 Interactions at road narrowings	32
	3.4.4	4 Turning movements and priorities	34
	3.4.	5 Issues in approach queues	35
	3.4.0	5 Signalling of intention at junctions	36
	3.4.2	7 Pedal cycle legislation	36
	3.5	INTERACTIONS WITH AVS	39
	3.6	SUMMARY	40
4	INT	ERACTIONS BETWEEN VEHICLES AND PEDESTRIANS	.40
	4.1	INTRODUCTION	40
	4.1.	<i>1 Historical context: Changing pedestrian priority</i>	41
	4.1.2	2 The planning of transport networks	41
	4.1	3 Buchanan's solution: Road hierarchies	41
	4.1.4	4 Unintended consequences	42
	4.1	5 Alternative approaches	42
	4.1.0	5 The Highway Code	42
	4.1.2	/ Summary	43
	4.2	PEDESTRIAN INTERACTIONS WITH VEHICULAR TRAFFIC	43
	4.2.	I Pedestrian benaviour along links	43
	4.Z.	2 Interactions with vohiolog in 'Shared Spaces'	44 15
	4.2 1 2	<i>1 Summary</i>	4) 16
	43	PEDESTRIAN-VEHICI F INTERACTIONS AT CROSSINGS	4 6
	1.5 4 3	<i>General crossing behaviour and uncontrolled crossings</i>	46
	4.3	2 Unsignalised designated (including zebra) crossings	49
	4.3.	3 Signalised crossings	50
		5 0	

5	CON	CLUSIONS AND RESEARCH QUESTIONS	52
-	aab <i>i</i>		
	4.4.3	Moral dilemmas	
	4.4.2	Designs for autonomous vehicles	51
	4.4.1	Intermediate technology	51
2	4.4 Pi	EDESTRIAN PROTECTION SYSTEMS	
	4.3.4	Summary	51

Summary

This review draws on literature relating to the interactions of vehicles with other vehicles, interactions between vehicles and infrastructure, and interactions between autonomous vehicles and cyclists and autonomous vehicles and pedestrians. The available literature relating to autonomous vehicles interactions is currently limited and hence the review has considered issues which will be relevant to autonomous vehicles from reading and evaluating a broader but still relevant literature.

The project is concerned primarily with autonomous vehicles within the urban environment and hence the greatest consideration has been given to interactions on typical urban roads, with specific consideration also being given to shared space. The central questions in relation to autonomous vehicles and other road users revolve around gap acceptance, overtaking behaviour, behaviour at road narrowings, the ability to detect and avoid cyclists taking paths through a junction which conflict with the autonomous vehicle's path, and the ability of autonomous vehicles to sense and respond to human gestures. A long list of potential research questions has been developed, many of which are not realistically answerable by the Venturer project. However, the following list summarises the important research questions which might potentially be answered by the current project. These are offered as the basis for the more detailed consideration of the conduct of the interaction trials.

- 1. Do approaching AVs, when they are clearly distinguishable as such, engender a different gap acceptance behaviour amongst other road users, at priority junctions?
- 2. Do approaching AVs, when they are clearly distinguishable as such, engender a different gap acceptance behaviour amongst other road users, at roundabouts?
- 3. How will AVs behave in shared space?
- 4. What is the extent to which an AV, when not being driven, can remain what might be termed 'passively' safe by preventing passenger egress when it is not safe for the occupants or others in the vicinity, such as cyclists to do so?
- 5. Are AVs able to overtake cyclists both with and without centre line markings with no difference in the impact on cycle users perceptions of safety?
- 6. For different speeds, what is an appropriate distance to be provided by an AV when overtaking a cyclist in order to provide a minimum level of comfort for the cyclist?
- 7. How will cycle users negotiate road narrowings with AVs without the facility to use eye contact as part of negotiating the manoeuvre?
- 8. How accurate are AVs in detecting cyclists who are making straight on manoeuvres at junctions across side roads either within the carriageway or on adjacent cycle tracks and what is the ability of the AV to come to a correct decision about its behaviour in relation to the cyclist or cyclists?
- 9. What is the extent to which AVs are able to decipher cyclists arm signals accurately at junctions?
- 10. What roles will cyclists and pedestrians have in a driverless society and how will the presence of driverless vehicles change pedestrians' and cyclists' facility preferences and behaviour?
- 11. How will AV sensing be able to detect and react to signals that pedestrians are gesturing and how will these be interpreted by the AV in its decision making?
- 12. Will pedestrians adjust the gap that they are prepared to accept to make a crossing of a road when the next approaching vehicle is demonstrably an AV rather than a human-driven vehicle?
- 13. Will pedestrians' intention to cross change as the approaching vehicle is demonstrably an AV?
- 14. Are AVs programmable to effectively and automatically adapt their speed within zebra crossing 'decision zones' regardless of whether pedestrians are present?
- 15. How good are AVs at detecting pedestrians approaching and crossing side roads and are they able to respond accordingly?
- 16. How do pedestrians react to a vehicle which is demonstrably autonomous when deciding whether to start to cross a side road?

17. How does the general population think AVs ought to be programmed to take action in the event of unavoidable collisions involving pedestrians?

1 Introduction

It appears relatively certain that the coming decades will witness a progressive transfer from the current predominance of human-controlled motorised vehicles to vehicles with increasing degrees of autonomy. It is less certain, however, how such Autonomous Vehicles (AVs) will integrate into the full range of existing types of public rights of way, and, more importantly, how they will integrate with the full range of road users, including pedestrians, cyclists and drivers and passengers of non-autonomous motor vehicles.

This literature review is the third review providing background to the VENTURER work package concerned with acceptability. The first review considered market opportunities and expectations, the second literature review considered user acceptance and response, particularly in terms of the process of return of control from autonomy to the driver. This third review considers the interactions of autonomous vehicles with other road users on the public road.

The review is introduced by a summary of types of autonomous vehicles. It then goes on to discuss the different scenarios in which autonomous vehicles may be used. This is followed by a section which provides an introductory discussion on collisions, conflicts and interactions.

The remaining sections in the review deal with vehicle-to-vehicle and vehicle-with-infrastructure interactions (Section 2), vehicle-with-bicycle interactions (Section 3) and finally vehicle-with-pedestrian interactions (Section 4). The emerging research questions are summarised in the concluding section (Section 5).

In drafting this literature review, we have drawn on literature from around the world. We have pointed out where some of the behaviours reported may not accord with UK observations. This breadth of literature has been included, however, in order to ensure that the full range of possible interactions that may result as a consequence of the introduction of AVs onto the UK's roads may be more fully understood and properly contextualised.

1.1 The nature of autonomous vehicles

Levels of autonomy are fully discussed in the literature review¹ considering market opportunities. Generally accepted levels of autonomy are derived from the United States of America's National Highway Traffic Safety Administration preliminary statement of policy concerning automated vehicles (NHTSA 2013) and are summarised for reference purposes as follows:

- Level 0: The driver completely controls the vehicle at all times.
- Level 1: Individual vehicle controls are automated, such as electronic stability control or automatic braking.
- Level 2: At least two controls can be automated in unison, such as adaptive cruise control in combination with lane keeping.
- Level 3: The driver can fully cede control of all safety-critical functions in certain conditions. The car senses when conditions require the driver to retake control and provides a "sufficiently comfortable transition time" for the driver to do so.
- Level 4²: The vehicle performs all safety-critical functions for the entire trip, with the driver not expected to control the vehicle at any time. As this vehicle would control all functions from start to stop, including all parking functions, it could include unoccupied cars.

NHTSA note three related streams of technological development as follows: i) in-vehicle crash avoidance systems (either warning the driver or involving limited automated technology to control the vehicle); ii) vehicle-to-vehicle communications (developed for crash avoidance); and iii) self-driving vehicles.

¹ Venturer Project Deliverable D1.

² Some other hierarchies separate Level 3 into two extents and identify 'everywhere anytime' automation as Level 5.

1.2 Use Scenarios

There are a number of scenarios under which road-based AVs could operate. In the extreme, AVs might only operate in a system segregated from other, non-autonomously controlled, road users. Alternatively, were they to operate on an existing road network in current types of traffic condition, then they would be subject to interactions with all types of vehicle, driver, cyclist, and pedestrian. These two extremes could hardly be more different in terms of what would be expected of an AV and the ways in which it would have to interact, manage, and negotiate its way through a system.

Throughout this review, consideration is given to the relevance of knowledge about road user interactions as they currently obtain, and which may be relevant to the AV context. For the purposes of this review, therefore, a set of AV Use Scenarios is used to frame the discussion, and to provide a defined scope for understanding the relevance of current research to the AV context. The four Use Scenarios are as follows:

- Use Scenario 1: Fully segregated AV network In whatever form this may be (for example pods or similar vehicles). AVs are completely segregated from other road users and operate within their own system. AVs would interact only with other AVs and the infrastructure of the network.
- Use Scenario 2: Motorway or expressway network This scenario is a situation in which AVs operate alongside human-controlled vehicles, however only within a constrained subset of roads on the general network, i.e. high-volume, high-speed roads and where there may be a significant amount of instrumentation and management (e.g. Smart Motorways). In this scenario AVs will interact with other AVs, human drivers, and the infrastructure of the road network (grade separated junctions with merges and diverges, lanes, signage including variable speed limits), but no intended, or at least very few, non-motorised road users³.
- Use Scenario 3: Typical Urban network This complex scenario comprises the typical roads found in urban and suburban areas and includes arterial roads, distributor roads, high streets, access roads and local streets. There will be a wide range of different types of road user, as well as a need to navigate various forms of junction and other complex infrastructure and a high level of different types of regulation (e.g. speed, parking and loading). AVs will interact with other AVs, human drivers (of a variety of vehicle types including buses, delivery vehicles and taxis), pedestrians and cyclists, and with the infrastructure of the road network (signalised, roundabout and priority junctions, variable numbers of lanes and bus and cycle lanes, regulatory and direction signs, parking areas, a variety of traffic regulation orders, footways and pedestrian crossings).
- Used Scenario 4: Shared space Shared space is an urban design approach which seeks to minimize
 the separation between different types of users in order to enhance priority for pedestrians and
 cyclists, which is often absent from much of the public highway. It does this by careful design to
 reduce motor traffic speeds and usually entails removing features such as kerbs, road surface
 markings, traffic signs, and traffic lights, and by introducing more subtle and naturalistic forms of
 speed control through different surface colours and textures and roadside features. Increasing skill
 and knowledge about the nature of appropriately designed shared space is growing as more schemes
 are implemented. In this final scenario, AVs will need to navigate an environment which is less well
 defined and regulated than a typical urban highway network. AVs will be expected to interact with
 every type of user on an equal basis with no defined priority. AVs will interact with other AVs, human
 drivers, pedestrians and cyclists.

³ It should be noted that humans may be on the carriageway not at users, but to conduct highway maintenance or assist with vehicle recovery etc. and so even vehicle-only roads cannot be considered as entirely closed to the possibility of necessary or unintended human interaction.

Of course the introduction of new vehicle technology may have implications for the way that we approach the design and management of the infrastructure, but this is beyond the scope of the research. Secondly, the research at hand is connected with the introduction of AVs into the existing highway network where there are human drivers. In this sense we are not so concerned with the Use Scenario where AVs operate on a fully segregated network. Such networks would allow for interesting and radical changes in control and management. For example, in relation to priority junctions (one of the forms of junction control of particular interest when introducing AVs into an existing network), vehicle-to-infrastructure and/or vehicle-to-vehicle communication could be used to place demands into the system for capacity at the junction which are then resolved in order to reduce overall delay (see for example Dresner and Stone, 2005 and Van Middlesworth and Dresner, 2008). These 'AV system only' considerations are beyond the scope of this literature review.

The existing road system is hugely complex and well-established, with a vast range of possibilities for different types of interaction. This presents a significant challenge to AVs in terms of safe, efficient and effective navigation through the network. Human drivers and other road users may not behave as AVs might expect (i.e. rationally or in a patterned way), and this variability is perhaps one of the greatest challenges for AV decision systems.

Thrift (2004) suggests that the private car is a deeply ingrained cultural icon. The infrastructure that supports car use is a fundamental part of the fabric of modern life. Even if someone does not drive a car, they are likely to encounter on a daily basis motorised traffic and the road network that supports it. AVs are therefore not only entering a functional system within which humans operate, but they are also entering a system heavily laden with different meanings for different users.

1.3 Autonomous vehicle trials

Research (Trump, 2015) drawing on a wide range of sources has identified six trials of Level 3 AV capability on publicly populated road space. The trials are listed in Table 1.

Trial	Location	Trial Environment
Google Self Driving Car Project	Northern California, USA	Urban inc. dual carriageways
Volvo 'Drive Me'	Gothenburg, Sweden	Urban inc. dual carriageways
Audi	Europe and various US States	Urban inc. dual carriageways
SATRE (Platooning Trial)	Europe	Motorways
Singapore Autonomous Vehicle Initiative	One North Business Park,	Urban
(SAVI) (planned)	Singapore	
BMW/Baidu <i>(planned)</i>	Beijing and Shanghai	Urban

Table 1 Autonomous Vehicle Trials on Public Road Space

(Source: Trump, 2015)

Simonite (2013) reports a presentation made by Chris Urmson, head of Google's self-drive project in which data from hundreds of thousands of miles of travel shows that Google's cars accelerated and braked significantly less sharply than when humans were driving, and that the Google car was much better at maintaining a safe distance from the vehicle ahead than human drivers are.

Volvo (2014) reports that their test cars, using technology they call 'Autopilot', can follow lanes, adapt their speed, and perform merges autonomously. Further developments (Volvo, 2015) suggest they are ready for public trials, and this readiness is based on complete systems that will 'fail safe'. Audi has completed a 550 mile 'piloted' drive from Silicon Valley to Las Vegas (Audi, 2015). BMW is in partnership with the Chinese search engine Baidu to introduce highly autonomous vehicles into cities in China that have already been tested in Germany (Forbes, 2014).

Tesla (2015) has released an initial version of its 'Autopilot' technology on the Model S vehicle, which is currently available to the public. The Tesla Autopilot feature involves four elements: Autosteer, Auto Lane Change, Automatic Emergency Steering and Side Collision Warning, and Auto Park.

'The latest software update, 7.0 allows Model S to use its unique combination of cameras, radar, ultrasonic sensors and data to automatically steer down the highway, change lanes, and adjust speed in response to traffic. Once you've arrived at your destination, Model S scans for a parking space and parallel parks on your command.' (Tesla, 2015)

1.4 Collisions, conflicts and interactions

Collisions, as with the generality of occurrences of failure, are usually multi-factorial. The majority of collisions on roads are a result of human causes, and usually a combination of more than one type of human error or violation, plus possibly other vehicle and infrastructure factors. The preponderance of human error is well documented and as far back as 1980, Sabey and Taylor (1980, p. 6) found that 'the majority of collisions on the highway have a multiplicity of causes', but that most often a human error or failing was involved, usually as the principal contributing factor. Lajunen *et al.* (2004, p. 231) similarly found that in 90-95% of traffic crashes human actions are a contributory factor, and this is also confirmed by Rumar (1985).

The latest statistics on contributory factors to collisions in Great Britain (DfT, 2015a) suggest that the top five contributory factors are as follows: Driver/Rider failed to look properly, 46%; Driver/Rider failed to accurately judge other person's path or speed, 24%; Driver/Rider careless, reckless or in a hurry, 18%; Poor turn or manoeuvre, 16%; Loss of control, 13%⁴. There are a number of behaviours which might lead to traffic conflicts, for example, violations of the right-of-way, insufficient distance from the preceding vehicle, speeding or poorly adapted speed (Risser, 1985).

Reason *et al.* (1990) developed the Manchester Driver Behaviour Questionnaire, which identified three factors: violations, dangerous errors and harmless lapses. They suggest that errors and violations are distinct classes of behaviour and that they have different psychological origins. They found that violations decline with age whilst errors do not. Men reported more violations than women, but, perhaps, they surmise, because of greater truthfulness, women report more errors than men. The key distinction between violations and errors is that violations have origins in social and motivational factors, whilst errors are related to information processing.

In a follow up study using the Manchester Driver Behaviour Questionnaire, and after no particular interventions to effect any behaviour change, Özkan *et al.* (2006) noted that after three years drivers reported less competitiveness while driving in the after period, but more 'speeding, drinking and driving, driving to wrong destinations and having no recollection of the road just travelled'. Those who reported most change in driving were young males and middle-aged females.

A number of studies have explored issues of attention and distraction, and found that these are regularly associated with collisions and near-misses (e.g. Kountouriotis and Merat, 2016). In a large-scale naturalistic study of driving behaviour, Dingus *et al.* (2006, p. 856) noted that 'almost 80 percent of all crashes and 65 percent of all near-crashes involved the driver looking away from the forward roadway just prior to the onset of the conflict'. Driver distraction has been considered from the perspective of information processing models (for example Multiple Resource Theory (Wickens, 2002) and the Working Memory Model (Baddeley, 1992). In research considering distraction in the context of the task demands of drivers, Cnossen *et al.* (2004) found that certain types of in-vehicle task, such as those most closely related to driving, like map reading,

⁴ Note that the quoted percentages indicate the proportion of collisions the factors occurred in, and the total for all contributory factors will sum to more than 100% because of the multi-factorial nature of collisions.

take priority over others. Loss of focus on the actual driving therefore has significant safety implications, particularly in the case of *visual distraction* where attention is taken away from the road (Kountouriotis and Merat, 2016).

It appears, therefore, that most issues of traffic safety in relation to collisions and near misses are caused by the driver as opposed to a technical failure of the vehicle. Such human factor-related concerns are promoted as a principal reason why governments, including the UK government, are pursuing the agenda of AV development. The Department for Transport states that 'The UK government recognises the potential benefits of driverless and automated vehicle technologies, particularly the potential to improve road safety and reduce casualties' (DfT, 2015b, page 4).

At the same time however, the propensity for unsafe driving and collisions also presents a significant challenge to AVs in any use scenario in which they must share the road space with human drivers, because, under such conditions, the AVs themselves will be at risk of being involved in a collision or other unsafe situation which is the result of human error, and over which they may have little control. Therefore understanding unsafe driving practices is important so that AVs may be equipped with the necessary technology and decision systems to respond in the most appropriate way when confronted with potentially hazardous situations.

A distinction is necessary between traffic 'conflicts' and traffic 'collisions'. A simple method of drawing the distinction is to say that traffic conflicts are situations in which there is the *potential* for a traffic collision to occur, however not all traffic conflicts necessarily result in a collision (for example if a driver takes corrective or evasive action); traffic collisions are therefore the result of *unsuccessfully resolved* traffic conflicts (Risser, 1985). Svensson and Hydén (2006, p. 380) define a traffic conflict as 'A situation where two or more road users approach each other in time and space to such an extent that a collision is imminent if their movements remain unchanged.'

The challenge to understanding conflict as a form of traffic interaction is that the majority of examples go unobserved because, suggest Svensson and Hydén (2006), researchers tend only to focus on the significant conflicts (i.e. those which do result in collisions). Figure 1 and Figure 2 below present different versions of the pyramid which represents the continuum of interactions between road users.

Figure 1 - The pyramid—the interaction between road users as a continuum of events (Hydén, 1987)



Figure 2 - The steps from behaviour as defined by a norm to actual accidents (Risser, 1985)



The volume inside the bands within the pyramid in Figure 1 is a proxy for the number of incidents of the type described. So far as Figure 2 is concerned, standard behaviour is very common, as depicted by the width of the frequency of events triangle, and the 'dangerousness of events' is, by contrast, low. Frequency and danger reverse as progression is made towards 'accidents'.

The majority of existing knowledge about road user interactions (especially empirical knowledge) focusses on serious conflicts and collisions, whilst the bulk of everyday road user interaction simply occurs without incident and are thus not of particular interest from a traffic safety perspective. They may, however, be of interest from the point of view of user experience (particularly non-motorised users) - the experience of interactions may be unpleasant, hence encouraging / discouraging certain behaviours / infrastructure designs. Even in studies relating to conflict, Bagdadi (2013) points out that the research explores the severity of traffic conflict in order to estimate the crash risk (but not typically the severity of the consequences of a potential crash). However, understanding these unremarkable 'everyday' interactions is of importance to an AV, which will be encountering these typical driver behaviours and interactions on a routine basis.

1.5 Summary and structure of remainder of the review

There are four levels of autonomy and we have identified four different use scenarios. The different categorisations of interaction possible are therefore myriad. A number of trials are already ongoing with different levels of autonomy in various parts of the world. There are various levels of interaction ranging from undisturbed but proximal passing, through increasing levels of conflict where greater degrees of avoidance are required, through to conflicts which result in collisions. Conflicts that do not result in collisions may still be unpleasant.

Traffic engineering is based on the design of highway layouts and control systems to assist in managing interactions between different road users to maximise capacity and ensure safety. Salter and Hounsell (1996) point out that these interactions occur when traffic streams (including pedestrians within the definition of traffic) merge, change lane, or where there are crossing conflicts. This review is concerned predominantly with these types of traffic interaction, or more precisely, how road users perceive, assess, and respond to other roads users within the context of the road infrastructure. We discuss vehicle-to-vehicle and vehicle-with-infrastructure interactions in the next section, and this is followed by discussion of vehicle-with-cyclist interactions and finally vehicle-with-pedestrian interactions.

2 Vehicle-to-vehicle and vehicle-with-infrastructure interactions

This section draws out relevant themes and issues related to current understanding of interactions between vehicles (i.e. vehicle-to-vehicle interactions), and also interactions between vehicles and infrastructure.

2.1 Typology of interactions

Driver interaction sits within a well-established body of theory and research. There are a number of different categories of interaction that drivers might have with either other vehicles or with the infrastructure of the road network.

This review of AV interactions with vehicles and infrastructure deals initially with links (sections of road between junctions). It then moves on to discuss the different types of junctions and their control (Give way junctions, roundabouts, grade-separated junctions, signal-controlled junctions, shared space). There is then a section dealing with traffic signs and regulations. The review then moves in a rather different direction, away from traffic engineering related research to focus on the types of social interaction which take place within the road environment. In particular, we discuss the issue of co-operation and conflict, which in the extreme leads to so-called 'road rage'.

2.2 Links

Links are the sections of roads between junctions. There are a number of types of possible interaction on links, for example: following vehicles (maintaining safe stopping distance), overtaking (either using overtaking lanes on dual carriageways, or using the part of the carriageway usually used by oncoming traffic on single carriageways), reading and interpreting signs, observing speed limits, observing lane markings, and using the hard shoulder.

Rule 126 of the Highway Code concerns stopping distances, and states that a driver must be able to stop within the distance ahead that can be seen to be clear (DfT, 2016). Therefore a driver needs to maintain speed such that they ensure that: (i) there is sufficient space between their vehicle and the vehicle in front to avoid a collision in the event that the vehicle in front stops suddenly, and (ii) that they are not travelling at a speed which would prohibit them from successfully navigating the infrastructure, for example when arriving at a junction.

This rule is similar to the Assured Clear Distance Ahead rule (ACDA) which is used in other countries such as the United States of America (for example see: Leibowitz *et al.*, 1998, p. 93): 'The ACDA rule holds the operators of a motor vehicle responsible to avoid collision with any obstacle which might appear in the vehicle's path.'

The Highway Code provides a series of modifiers to this general rule around stopping distance, which are applicable in specific contexts as follows: (i) when travelling on roads which carry faster-moving traffic, the Code stipulates a two-second gap between a driver and the vehicle in front (this tolerance is doubled to four seconds under unfavourable conditions such as wet roads, and increased further still in icy conditions); (ii) the Code states that a larger gap should be given by drivers of heavy or large vehicles and motorcycles, which require greater distance to stop; and (iii) drivers of large vehicles while driving in a tunnel should leave a four-second gap between their own vehicle and the vehicle in front (DfT, 2016).

The Highway Code suggests the following braking distances for human-controlled vehicles at varying speeds:



Figure 3 - Example stopping distances presented in the Highway Code (DfT, 2016)

Whilst the driver of a vehicle is responsible for maintaining the stopping distance in front of his or her vehicle, they have little to no control over the stopping distance that the driver behind them has adopted. Discussion below considers aggressive driving behaviours such as tailgating. While a human driver may attempt to compensate by providing a braking distance ahead of him or her which is the equivalent for two vehicles (i.e. their own vehicle and the vehicle which is dangerously tailgating), it is unclear how an AV would manage an interaction in which another road user was not following the rules in this way, and hence placed the AV and its occupants in the hazardous position of increased potential for a rear-end collision it if were forced to stop suddenly.

An AV's enhanced proficiency at braking might also present a challenge in a mixed-traffic context. Figure 3 shows the perception and reaction distances of human drivers (the 'thinking' distance). In general, and assuming sufficient levels of information always being available to the AV and sufficient computing power to make appropriate decisions, AVs will have better (and more consistent) perception and reaction times than their human counterparts. This is a desirable road safety outcome in terms of AVs' ability to come to a halt more quickly and safely than a human driver, and thus avoid collisions with unexpected obstacles in the vehicle's path. However, in certain scenarios (the close following example above), an AV stopping more efficiently than a human driver, and without recognition of the unfolding situation behind the vehicle, may exacerbate the possibility of collisions.

Hardy and Fenner (2015) investigated the contribution of Level 2 automation (automation based on driver assistance such as co-operative adaptive cruise control (CACC) and collision mitigation braking (CMB)) to mitigate congestion levels and poor journey time reliability, collision rates, carbon dioxide emissions and poor journey time reliability. CACC has the ability to create uniform headway and similar velocities throughout a platoon. They studied four scenarios as follows: i) Vehicles have the same braking performance but 0.3 second vehicle-to-vehicle transmission lag exists; ii) The platoon leader has a 25% braking performance advantage compared to the follower, and V2V lag exists; iii) The platoon leader has a 25% braking performance advantage compared to the follower, but V2V is lag free; and iv) The platoon follower has a 25% braking performance advantage compared to the leader, and V2V lag exists. They estimated that the two lane A14 between Huntingdon and Cambridge could have its capacity increased from its notional present capacity of 3600 vehicles per hour (vph) to 9200 vph. They also estimated carbon emissions reductions of up to 43%.

AVs will obtain data on their surroundings and take decisions about stopping distances and whether to overtake or not based on their ability to safely stop or complete an overtaking manoeuvre. A specific issue, and hence research question, relating to interactions however is as follows: **What decision making behaviour may be required of an AV to deal with aggressive behaviour of a human driver in a following vehicle?**

2.3 Junctions

Junctions are the nodes within a transport network. For a simple four-way junction there are sixteen crossing conflicts, eight diverging conflicts and eight merging conflicts. This number of conflicts may be reduced in number and modified in nature by creating different types of layout, such as a roundabout or grade separation, or by separating the conflicts in time by using traffic signal control.

Drivers may retain the right of way at a junction, for example, by virtue of being on the main road through a priority junction. Otherwise, they may be required to give way (yield priority) to other streams of traffic either at priority junctions or roundabouts. There remain a significant number of four-way intersections in the UK, particularly in housing estates constructed in the 1950s and 1960s, where there may be no marked priority for one stream of traffic over another. In addition, a variety of shared space schemes being constructed according to current practice similarly, and deliberately, do not provide clear priority for one stream of traffic over pedestrian traffic, or vice versa. There is no general application of what would be the equivalent of the 'priority to the right' rule in the UK, as stipulated in Article 18.4.a of the Vienna Convention on Road Traffic for countries where traffic keeps to the right. Instead, such unmarked junctions operate informally on the basis of 'first come-first served'. At a different extreme, drivers may be subject to control where their right of way is temporarily prohibited by a red aspect on a traffic signal head. When on green, the driver is permitted to proceed if the way is clear. At grade-separated junctions, drivers will merge with other traffic as they join a traffic stream on the main line carriageway, or diverge if leaving the mainline carriageway. Ultimately, for full automation to be achieved, solutions will need to be developed for all these circumstances.

For countries that do apply a 'priority to the right' rule in circumstances where priority is not explicit, De Ceunynck's *et al.* (2013) field studies have relevance. They investigated the differences in interactions and behaviours of drivers at junctions where there is priority control relative to situations where the priority to the right rule applies (in a context in which right-hand rule of the road was obtained). They found significantly more violations (27% of all interactions) where the priority to the right rule applies than where the junction was controlled by priority (8% of all interactions). They suggested that there was in fact an implicit rule of first-come-first-served at priority to the right junctions and the characteristics of the approach to the junction (e.g. whether an approaching vehicle stops or not, and its deceleration characteristics) are relevant to the subsequently observed order of procedure of the different approaching vehicles through the junction.

2.3.1 Priority junctions

The most common type of intersection is the priority junction. While no four-way priority junctions are now constructed in the UK, perhaps with the exception of schemes which are shared space, there is a legacy of many thousands of priority junctions of this type. At certain, mainly rural, locations, where speeds and volumes on the main road may be higher, it may be desirable to create a stagger so that the minor road traffic crossing the major roads first turns right on to the main road and then turns left off the main road. In a left-hand rule of the road country, right – left staggers are preferred to left – right staggers so that crossing traffic does not queue on the major road in order to leave it, and so that the right-turn manoeuvres off the major route are outside the stagger.

An important feature of a priority junction, and one that is returned to later in the review, is that road users must give way to pedestrians who have started to cross the side road (DfT, 2016, Rule 170).

On the basis that there is no absolute control (red/green) of the vehicle stream that is giving way, drivers will need to make decisions about when to cross or join a traffic stream. They will be seeking and accepting gaps in the traffic stream which are sufficiently long (in terms of time and distance) for them to safely make a manoeuvre without causing conflict and while also providing a margin of safety. Gap acceptance is about

deciding between two options as follows: (i) accepting the gap is large enough for the manoeuvre they plan to undertake, or (ii) rejecting the gap for the manoeuvre they plan to undertake. Typically, a driver will reject many gaps before accepting a gap (Salter & Hounsell, 1996).

A gap is the period of time between the arrival of two major road vehicles (either heading in the same direction, or heading in opposite directions) at the junction where a minor road vehicle is attempting to cross or enter one or other of the traffic streams. A lag is the unexpired portion of a gap which is still available to a minor road driver when they arrive at a junction. If a minor road vehicle arrives at a junction with a major road and there is a sufficiently long lag time period, the driver may enter the major stream immediately. On the basis that such a driver may in effect have a rolling start, it is likely that smaller lags are accepted than subsequent gaps, where the vehicle entering is doing so from a standing start.

The probability of gaps in a traffic stream of a certain period may be found from the exponential distribution, and the willingness to accept gaps of different size by drivers conforms to the Normal Distribution. The identification of the critical gap, usually defined as the shortest gap that 50% of drivers would accept, may be determined from observation. For design purposes, it is usually the case that empirical models are estimated based on observation, geometry and conflicting flow (Kimber and Coombe, 1980).

While Harrell and Spaulding (2001) found, from simulations, the size of the approaching vehicle to be relevant in gap acceptance decisions, Hanowski *et al.* (2007) rather conversely found from real world observations that, where incidents occurred between light vehicles and heavy vehicles, it was aggressive driving on the part of the light vehicle driver that was the primary contributing factor⁵.

Gstalter and Fastenmeier (2010) developed a taxonomy of driving tasks, definitions for correct behaviours and errors in behaviour, and methods for observing these differences. This allowed for the ratio of errors committed by observation in the field relative to the number of opportunities for the errors to be estimated. They compared the reliability of drivers at different types of intersection and found that the highest numbers of errors occurred at priority junctions and roundabouts. They found that older drivers' error ratios in nearly all tasks are significantly higher than those of the other groups. An interesting research question is as follows: **As a result of their greater predictability, will the presence of autonomous vehicles introduce a degree of additional control into the vehicle mix, resulting in fewer errors by drivers?** This is beyond the scope of this project, however, as it would require multiple autonomous vehicles to be available in the field for testing.

Dukic and Broberg (2012) found that older drivers, while also having less neck flexibility than younger drivers, tended to look more at lines and markings in the road while younger drivers tended to look more at other vehicles.

Wickens *et al.* (2001) proposed a model to explain the selection of visual information in different areas of interest (AOI) that may be looked at during multi-tasking based on four factors as follows: Expectancy (the quantity of relevant information expected in the AOI); Value (the relevance of a piece of information); Saliency (high visual saliency may have low relevance to the task and is hence a source of bias); Effort (the cost of a saccade⁶ between AOIs). Using only different levels of control on the approach to an intersection (stop, priority and yield (in this context yield may be understood as merge) as a measure for Value and different flow volumes on the road to be joined as the variable for Expectancy, Lemmonier *et al.* (2015) found that dwell time looking at the intersecting road was around 10% of all observation time for all intersecting road flow levels with a stop line. With a priority-controlled crossing, dwell time on the intersecting road

⁵ Notably, however, commentators explained a first recorded collision between an AV car (operated by Google) and a human-driven bus in terms of the bus driver expecting that the smaller vehicle would give precedence to the larger vehicle whilst the AV system was seeking to change lane to circumvent an obstruction.

⁶ A saccade is a quick eye movement between two or more fixed points.

increased to only around 20% for a situation with no intersecting road flow and to 40% where the intersecting road flow was light or heavy. For a yield, the dwell time on the intersecting road was between 35 and 40%.

Approaches to estimating capacity do not attempt to understand the decision making process, which is clearly variable based on a range of possible factors. Harrell and Spaulding (2001) suggest that the decision to accept a gap or not is related to the value of undertaking the manoeuvre relative to the potential cost of undertaking the manoeuvre and use as a basis the model of Gray and Tallman (1984). Equation 1 below shows the form that they adopted.

$$\frac{P_t}{1-P_t} = a. \left(\frac{\left(1-P_{cg}\right).G}{P_{cs}.S.P_{cm}.M}\right)^b$$

Where

 $\begin{array}{l} P_t = \text{probability of undertaking a turn} \\ P_{cg} = \text{probability of a collision for a given gap} \\ G = \text{size of gap} \\ P_{CS} = \text{Probability of collision given the speed of the oncoming vehicle} \\ S = \text{Speed of oncoming vehicle} \\ P_{CM} = \text{Probability of collision given size of oncoming vehicle (mass)} \\ M = \text{Mass of oncoming vehicle} \\ a, b = \text{coefficients to be estimated} \end{array}$

The ratio of the probability of undertaking the manoeuvre to the probability of not undertaking the manoeuvre (the left hand side of the equation) is a function of the ratio of the 'value' of making the manoeuvre (numerator on the right hand side) to the 'cost' of making the manoeuvre (denominator on the right hand side). The 'value' of making the manoeuvre is expressed as the probability for a given size of gap of the manoeuvre being collision free. The 'cost' of making the manoeuvre is expressed as the product of the probability of a collision for a given approach speed and the probability of a collision for a given approach vehicle size. Using data from a driver simulator where test drivers were asked to make a left turn (right hand rule of the road), they demonstrated that such an approach explains 67% of the variation in the data, and this is more than is explained by linear models.

When an AV approaches a junction it will be posed with the same gap or lag acceptance scenario as a human driver. The technology of the AV may allow it to make a decision about gap acceptance more reliably than a human driver. This is because it ought to be able to more reliably determine the approach speed and the distance of the approaching vehicle. Its decision making processes will also not be subject to the value of the ratio of the gains of making a turn relative to the losses, as expressed in Equation 1. It will be programmed to accept turns where the probability of a collision is below a certain threshold (the probability being estimated from the known variability in its ability to detect the speed and distance of an approaching vehicle). However, it is a moot point as to whether the behaviour of the AV should in fact mimic human decision making when in traffic conditions mixed with human drivers. An AV-like, rather than a human behaviour like approach, may result in less violation of the rules of the road by other drivers in the vicinity of the AV.

Existing research suggests that gap acceptance is a well-established aspect of driver behaviour, and furthermore one which is understood and negotiated tacitly between drivers (i.e. a driver in the major stream who sees a vehicle in a minor stream at an intersection will have certain expectations about how that driver will behave, what gap is acceptable and so on). Therefore in order to manoeuvre safely and successfully it may be the case that an AV will need to interact in a way that human drivers in the major stream are *expecting* when they see a vehicle at an intersection ahead of them attempting to join their flow. An appropriate

research question to ask is therefore: **Do approaching AVs, when they are clearly distinguishable as such,** engender a different gap acceptance behaviour amongst other road users, at priority junctions?

2.3.2 Roundabouts

Empirical models based on geometry and flow for the estimation of capacity of roundabouts were developed by Kimber (1980). These, together with the formulae for priority junctions in Kimber and Coombe (1980) are the basis for JUNCTIONS, the Transport Research Laboratory software used to analyse priority and roundabout junctions.

Troutbeck (1990) studied roundabouts in Australia and found that the gap acceptance behaviour of drivers changes with increasing circulating flow: rather than priority being ceded by entering traffic, as flows grow, merging behaviour tends to take place. Merging and subsequent weaving tends to take place at large roundabouts and this mechanism is discussed more in the following section.

Despite Troutbeck's early suggestions, the majority of behaviour at roundabouts is related to gap acceptance and this is therefore similar to behaviour at priority junctions. The relevant research question is therefore as follows: **Do approaching AVs, when they are clearly distinguishable as such, engender a different gap acceptance behaviour amongst other road users, at roundabouts?**

2.3.3 Grade separated junctions

There are four possible ways in which drivers may behave at a merge, as described by Cowan (1979) as follows: (a) First come, first merged; (b) Alternate merging; (c) Partial priority given to one lane⁷; and (d) Priority given to one lane (the queue in the priority lane discharges before the other lane can discharge).

The UK Highway Code (DfT, 2016, Rule 259) states that traffic entering a motorway should give priority to traffic already on the motorway. The way that such merges work is in fact a mix between Cowan's type (c) and type (d) merge. Again, rather than design based on gap acceptance theory, the approach adopted in the UK is based on design charts which demonstrably work from an empirical point of view (Highways England, 2006).

Grade separated junctions occur mainly on motorways and expressways (Use Scenario 2) and in higher speed conditions. The relevant research question is therefore as follows: **Do approaching AVs, when they are clearly distinguishable as such, engender a different gap acceptance behaviour amongst other road users, at merges?**

2.3.4 Signal Controlled junctions

Drivers approaching signal control have to make a decision about whether or not to proceed based on the signal aspect displayed to them. These are likely to be as follows i) proceed based on a green aspect, ii) brake when an amber aspect begins to be displayed, iii) brake on approaching a red aspect, iv) brake on approaching the end of a queue waiting at a red aspect. The most complex decision is related to the appearance of an amber aspect at the end of a green period, scenario (ii). Depending on the distance of the driver from the stop line and the driver's speed at the time of the change to amber, the driver may decide to proceed through during the first fractions of a second of an amber aspect in order to ensure the junction is cleared before the subsequent traffic phase begins to move. A similar acceleration may also be evident in

⁷ A major stream vehicle with a headway gap ahead of it may have this gap filled by an entering vehicle, but the reduction in headway in front of the major road vehicle will not reduce below the minimum headway.

behaviour associated with proceeding on a green aspect if the driver thinks that the traffic signal may be about to change to amber.

Liu (2007) studied factors that affect approach speed to signal controlled junctions. He constructed a binary logistic regression model to predict whether the speed limit was broken on the approach and found that violation was six times as likely in suburban as compared with urban settings, three times as likely when in a non-peak period as opposed to a peak period rush-hour or not, and male drivers under 55 years of age had the greatest speeding propensity. The signal aspect on approach, however, was the most significant determinant of speed, with lower speeds observed when the aspect was amber.

On the basis that signal control, by definition, effectively provides 'instruction' as to how to behave, there is less variability in behaviour and therefore less of a need to research the interactions between different types of road user and AVs. Contrariwise, there could be the risk that a human driver following an AV in a scenario where the green phase is closing down to amber may assume the AV will consume the benefit of the amber and seek to follow through by close following.

2.3.5 Modern street design and shared space

The approach to designing residential roads in the UK has changed since the publication of Manual for Streets (CLG/DfT, 2007). The manual has an emphasis on good overall design, without undue or singular focus on the movement function of residential streets. The philosophy is to give a higher priority to pedestrians and cyclists because these types of users are able to create more of a sense of place and community. The research that underpins the manual (York *et al.*, 2007) has found that reducing width and visibility reduces speeds, and it remains the geometry of links and junctions, rather than the more qualitative characteristics of the junction (its age, or other features) which primarily determine speed and likelihood and severity of collisions. The research found that, with no other speed reducing measures, stopping distances above 20m retain a margin of safety in the residential roads studied. They also found that parking on the carriageway reduces speeds by 2 to 5 mph and that reducing lines of sight from 120m to 20 m reduces approach speed by 20 mph on links and 11 mph at junctions. The principles enshrined in Manual for Streets are now also receiving wider application on non-residential roads in urban areas such as high streets (CIHT, 2010).

Hamilton-Baillie and Jones (2005) report examples from Continental Europe and the UK where the removal of separation between traffic and people is making streets safer and less congested. These approaches are usually accompanied by wider urban realm improvements which include the removal of kerbs, barriers, highway signs and road markings. Such shared space schemes remain in their infancy in the UK, but experience is growing and there is a realisation (see for example Parkin and Smithies, 2012) that there are significant subtleties to the good design of shared space schemes which require attention to the visual and tactile messages that they provide to all road users about the speed that they should adopt and the positioning and routeing within the shared space that they should take.

There are shared space schemes which are rightly being questioned in terms of their efficacy, however. For example, Moody and Melia (2014) seek to challenge the evidence relating to the effectiveness of one of the early shared space scheme designs in Ashford in Kent.

An obvious and specific question in relation to Use Scenario 4 shared space situations is in relation to the way that AVs would react to and behave where there is no clear priority. The relevant research question is: **How will AVs behave in shared space?**

2.4 Signs and traffic regulations

In areas other than those which are deliberately designed to be relatively free of specific regulation, such as shared space, the road remains a highly regulated part of the public realm. Regulation is conveyed to drivers

through signing and markings. AVs would of course, based on appropriate levels of information and communication received, need to respond to this regulation in a precise and conforming way. Human drivers, on the other hand, are much more variable in their compliance with regulation. Summala & Hietamäki (1984) found for example that drivers' responses to road signs were variable and they recalled road signs better when they were more relevant to them.

There are occasions when regulations as specified need to be reinforced with on-road systems to identify and fine drivers as a way of helping to enhance compliance. These are often in the form of cameras directed at, for example, red signal compliance at signal controlled junctions, bus lane enforcement and, perhaps most ubiquitously, speed enforcement. Clearly, again, one of the major benefits of AVs will be their inability to progress at more than the posted speed limit, and speed limiting to the posted limit arguably should be one of the first and most important features of semi-autonomous vehicles.

Schechtmana *et al.* (2016) sought drivers' views in parallel with the implementation of speed enforcement cameras. The majority of drivers (61%) predicted a positive impact of speed cameras on safety and suggested that enforcement is the main reason for speed limit adherence. Exceeding the speed limit was reported by 38% of drivers at the beginning of the study and by 11% after the introduction of the enforcement. They also found that accuracy of knowledge of the imposed speed limit were themselves limited. Linked with the findings of Reason *et al.* (1990) that errors and violations are distinct classes of behaviour with different psychological origins, we can expect that, for example, as violations decline with age, so will speeding.

AVs will need to recognise situations where there are roadworks and, in particular, there may be a need for on-board systems which take in information from the road in order to be in a position to override preprogrammed information about the nature of the road network, which may be temporarily inaccurate, for example different speed limits. The need to respect the safety of maintenance teams has already been noted earlier. Variable Matrix Signals or Variable Matrix Signs may be used to provide guidance or instruction. There may be temporary lane closures or derogations from, for example, 'keep left' signs where traffic is directed around the right hand side of a traffic island.

2.5 Social interactions in the road environment

Wilde (1976) studied social interactions in relation to driver behaviour. He suggested that, despite the degree of anonymity that might be presumed to be available to all types of road user, participation in traffic does not in fact take place in a social vacuum. Individual performance of the functions relating to road use takes place in the context of a collective of road users, and this collectivism may be characterized by social habits and social values, by certain expectations, and by methods of communication. He did also note that there are deviations from what may be regarded as social norms evident in the behaviour of road users.

Havârneanu and Havârneanu (2012) studied the ways in which road users respond to the rules of the road when they appear to be perverse. In particular, they studied the reactions of drivers in situations where the rules have no apparent safety benefit. Unsurprisingly perhaps, they found that when there is a lack of evident factors which increase risk, drivers are more likely to violate rules of the road. Legree *et al.* (2003) found that stressful situations increase crash risk. Earlier, Sorock *et al.* (1996) had studied motor vehicle crashes in roadway construction zones, which do indeed add stress and risk for drivers on roads.

2.5.1 Conflict ('road rage')

An important issue in understanding driver interactions is that of aggressive driving behaviours and what is commonly termed 'road rage'. Research suggests that aggressive driving behaviours are relatively common, and thus it follows that an AV must be able to recognise, at least in terms of a behaviour pattern, and respond in an appropriate manner to instances where rational behaviour is overtaken by emotional responses on the

part of other drivers. A report by the American Automobile Association (AAA, 2009, p. 10) notes that 'surveys consistently show that people believe aggressive driving is one of the most serious traffic safety problems'. This perception of aggressive driving suggests that it is an area of particular concern in terms of AV interactions with other vehicles on the road network.

A distinction may however be drawn between aggressive driving and road rage. Road rage is usually taken to mean an incident in which a driver takes actions *with the specific intention of harming another road user*, whilst aggressive driving is engaging in dangerous or forceful manoeuvring of the vehicle but without the specific intention to harm someone else (Schafer, 2015). Whilst both forms of behaviour are similar in that they place others at significant risk, the distinction is merited because of the differences in motivation, driver personality, and outcomes of each behaviour (Schafer, 2015; Hennessy, 2011; Miles & Johnson, 2003). A distinction between aggressive driving and road rage behaviours is also necessary from a legal perspective, where the former are treated as a subset of traffic violations, whilst the latter are regarded as criminal acts in the manner of physical assaults (Schafer, 2015; Sanders, 2002).

The definitions of what constitutes an incident of road rage or aggressive driving continue to be debated in studies which focus on the subject. For the purposes of this review it is sufficient to refer to Schafer's (2015, p. 12) three categorisations of drivers' aggression, included in Table 2:

Туре	Definition	Examples of behaviour	
Aggressive Driving	'Time-urgent and self-oriented behaviours that can be dangerous, illegal, and warrant concern from other motorists, but lack harmful intent' (Hennessy & Wiesenthal, 2005, p. 62)	Speeding Frequent lane changing Passing on the hard shoulder Cutting corners	
Road Rage	Purposeful infliction of harm (physical or psychological, injury, humiliation, or annoyance) on another within the driving environment in direct response to a perceived injustice (Hennessy & Wiesenthal, 2005)	Sounding the horn aggressively Gesturing/shouting Flashing lights aggressively Cutting up Tailgating Sharp braking Following Blocking	
Violent Road Rage	An assault with a motor vehicle or other dangerous weapon by the operator or passenger(s) of one motor vehicle on the operator or passenger(s) of another motor vehicle caused by an incident that occurred on a roadway' (NHTSA, 2000)	Violent confrontation Deliberate collision Forcing another vehicle off the road	

Table 2 - Typology of driver aggression

Many of the examples of behaviour described in Table 2 have the potential to present a challenge to an AV in the way it interacts with other vehicles.

All types of driver aggression have at their core the manifestation of a driver's negative emotional state (typically anger) in their driving behaviour. Jonah (1997) has described the aggression, frustration, and impatience involved in aggressive driving. Aggressive driving has also been linked to impulsivity, sensation seeking, and a person's propensity for boredom (see: Dahlen *et al.*, 2005). This suggests that whilst aggressive driving is a relatively patterned behaviour in psychological terms, its occurrence on the roads is dependent to a greater degree upon the emotional state and personality traits of individual drivers, and therefore their occurrence is unpredictable. However, it is also clear that there will be situations in which drivers might be particularly prone to experiences of boredom, stress, or anger – such as in heavy traffic or in restrictive speed limits – and thus it might be possible for an AV to identify particular circumstances in which the potential for an encounter with an aggressive driver is higher.

Actual violent road rage incidents in which a driver physically assaults another road user are suggested to be very rare (Schafer, 2015; Smart & Mann, 2002; Wickens, 2011), particularly in the context of the whole range of vehicle collisions. For example, Sansone and Sansone (2010) found that just 2% of drivers had admitted causing harm (or attempting to cause harm) to other drivers. Joint (1997) similarly suggests that only 1% of drivers in a study commissioned by the Automobile Association (AA) had experienced physical assault by another driver.

However, beyond direct physical assaults, incidences of aggressive driving and road rage are extremely common, and their implications for road safety very serious. For example, a study of aggressive drivers in Malaysia by Sullman *et al.* (2015) found that all of their measures of aggressive expression were significantly associated with crash-related conditions, including: losing control of the vehicle, loss of concentration, and having near misses.

A number of studies report different figures for levels of aggressive driving, but all are consistently high. Several examples are given below:

- Joint (1997) reported UK data from the AA suggesting that 90% of motorists had experienced road rage in the past year, and that 60% of people had admitted to engaging in the behaviour: 62% had engaged in aggressive tailgating, 59% in aggressive headlight flashing, 45% had made obscene gestures, 21% had deliberately obstructed another vehicle, and 16% had been verbally abusive.
- The Royal Society for the Prevention of Accidents (RoSPA, 2011) report on inappropriate speed has found that inappropriate speed is responsible for approximately 14% of all injury collisions, 15% of serious injury collisions, and 24% of collisions resulting in death in the UK. The study also noted that speeding drivers were more likely to be recorded as undertaking 'aggressive driving', being 'careless, reckless or in a hurry' or 'impaired by alcohol' or having 'stolen a vehicle'. The report suggests that there is a 'link between excess speed and other types of risk-taking behaviour' (p. 4).
- A large-scale international Gallup survey of 23 countries worldwide in 2002/03 identified that levels
 of aggressive driving vary greatly by country. In the US, 66% of drivers had been subject to aggressive
 behaviour from other drivers in the past 12 months. This figure was 65% in Russia, 51% in Australia,
 48% across the participating European countries, 37% in Argentina, and just 26% in Japan. The vast
 majority of participants in this study also perceived that aggressiveness of fellow drivers had
 increased in recent years.
- Asbridge *et al.* (2003) reported that 74.3% of drivers surveyed in their Ontario study had perpetrated road rage, and 52.8% had been victims of road rage. Road rage offending was predominantly a male activity, while there were no gender differences in victimization. Moreover, road rage was not isolated among young adults; rather, road rage was prominent across all ages, with the exception of seniors. Consistent with the existing literature, road rage was found to be higher in urban settings.
- Dąbrowski (1998) suggests that 80% of drivers in Poland experience road rage at least once a week.

- Dukes *et al.* (2001) reported an estimate from the US Department of Transport that as much as two thirds of the 41,907 deaths as a result of vehicle collisions in the US in 1996 could be attributed to aggressive driving. Furthermore, the study goes on to suggest that at the time aggressive driving behaviours were increasing significantly.
- In the USA, a report by the American Automobile Association (AAA, 2009, p.10) suggests that 56% of collisions which result in death involve 'one or more unsafe driving behaviours typically associated with aggressive driving'.

Numerous other sources suggest similar findings. Aggressive driving behaviours and road rage pose a risk to the safety of road users, and this will also pose a challenge to AVs. Aggressive driving and road rage are human phenomena, and it is unclear as to whether the presence of AVs in the vehicle mix will either have a neutral effect on the level of road rage (extent and intensity) or whether they will serve to ameliorate the problem or exacerbate the problem. They are a product of psychological traits and drivers' emotional states, and as such are prone to unpredictability.

Neale *et al.* (2006, xxiii) undertook a naturalistic driving study and some of the most important findings addressed as part of the high priority goals analyzed for this report are presented below:

- This study allowed, perhaps for the first time, the capture of crash and collision events that
 included minor, non-property-damage contact. These low severity collisions provide very
 valuable information and occur much more frequently than more severe crashes. As a result,
 crash/collision-involvement was much higher than expected in that 82 total crashes/collisions
 reported in that study, while only 15 of these crashes were reported to the police. For
 urban/suburban settings, this suggests that total crash/collision involvement may be over five
 times higher than police-reported crashes.
- Almost 80 percent of all crashes and 65 percent of all near-crashes involved the driver looking away from the forward roadway just prior to the onset of the conflict. Prior estimates related to 'distraction' as a contributing factor have been in the range of 25 percent.
- Inattention, which was operationally defined as including: (1) secondary task distraction; (2) driving-related inattention to the forward roadway (e.g., blind spot checks); (3) moderate to extreme drowsiness; and (4) other non-driving-related eye glances, was a contributing factor for 93 percent of the conflict with lead-vehicle crashes and minor collisions. In 86 percent of the lead-vehicle crashes/collisions, the headway at the onset of the event was greater than 2.0 seconds.
- For scenarios involving conflict with a lead vehicle, the most frequent cases of lower severity conflicts (i.e., incidents and near-crashes) occurred in lead-vehicle moving scenarios, while 100 percent of the crashes (14 total) occurred when the lead vehicle was stopped. This indicates that drivers have sufficient awareness and ability to perform evasive manoeuvres when closing rates are lower and/or expectancies about the flow of traffic are not violated.
- The rate of inattention-related crash and near-crash events decreases dramatically with age, with the rate being as much as four times higher for the 18-to-20 age group relative to some of the older driver groups (i.e., 35 and up).
- The use of hand-held wireless devices (primarily cell phones but including a small amount of PDA use) was associated with the highest frequency of secondary task distraction-related events. This was true for both events of lower severity (i.e., incidents) and for events of higher severity (i.e., near-crashes). Internet-enabled devices were also among the categories associated with the highest frequencies of crashes and minor collisions, along with looking at/reaching for an object in vehicle and passenger-related secondary tasks.

- Drowsiness also appears to affect crashes and collisions at much higher rates than is reported using existing crash databases. Drowsiness was a contributing factor in 12 percent of all crashes and 10 percent of near-crashes, while most current database estimates place drowsiness-related crashes at approximately 2 to 4 percent of total crashes.
- The lead-vehicle crash and near-crash data clearly shows that development of purely quantitative near-crash criteria (i.e., not requiring at least some degree of verification by a human analyst) is not currently feasible. A primary reason for this was that vehicle kinematics associated with near-crashes were virtually identical to common driving situations that were not indicative of crash risk. Thus, qualitative and quantitative criteria are dependent upon one another to some degree. Fortunately, advances in digital video compression and storage technology, and the advancement of data reduction software, have made video verification feasible for large numbers of events.
- Results from the analysis investigating driver adaptation to instrumented vehicles indicate that even when the same driver was switched from a private vehicle to a leased vehicle, there were still more events per mile in the leased vehicle than in the private vehicle. If there was an effect of adaptation, it was extinguished before the first week of driving was completed. In addition, drivers appeared to adapt to the presence of the unobtrusive instrumentation within the first hour of driving.

There is a strong possibility that AVs will encounter both aggressive driving and road rage, or simply poor driver behaviour. A relevant research question is: how for example might an AV manage a situation in which another driver is being deliberately antagonistic, driving in a manner with the intention to harm the AV and/or its occupants, or simply driving with poor care and attention to the task of driving?

2.6 Summary

The preservation of gaps between consecutive vehicles in a system is critical to avoiding collisions. Based on drive on sight systems, the creation and preservation of appropriate gaps is in the gift of the driver. In links these gaps may be eroded by following vehicles and this may necessitate additional gaps being offered by a vehicle that is being followed too closely in order to mitigate the effect. At junctions, drivers will accept gaps in order to make manoeuvres. The acceptance of a gap will result from a decision about the value of accepting the gap relative to the potential risk. This is a rather different mechanism than the one that ought to be acceptable for AVs, which will be based on minimising risk alone. The approach to human decision making in a complex system such as a road environment may stray well beyond bounds of rationality and emotional response to situations may create rather violent reactions manifest as 'road rage'. AVs will behave more predictably and their presence in the mix of other road users will therefore introduce an additional degree of control. This may have general beneficial effects in reducing driver error, so long as countervailing human emotional responses to not dominate.

3 Interactions between vehicles and bicycles

3.1 Introduction

Cycling plays an important role in the transport function in many countries, particularly in urban areas, and is growing in importance in a number of UK towns and cities. Goodman (2013) shows that cycling to work increased by 0.1% to 3.1% in the decade to the 2011 census. At a regional level the change in level of cycling was in the range -0.6% to +0.2%, with some marked increases at the local level; for example, Cambridge +4.2% to 32.6%, Oxford +2.8% to 19.1%, London Borough of Hackney +8.5% to 15.4% and Bristol +3.3% to 8.2%.

There have been a number of initiatives encourage cycling in the last decade. Notably, the six Cycling Demonstration Towns (2005 to 2011) and the twelve Cycling Cities and Towns (2008 to 2011) in England were provided with capital for infrastructure improvement and revenue for promotion and training. Goodman

analysed the commute to work of the 1.3 million commuters in the 18 intervention towns and found an increase significant at the 95% level of confidence of 0.69% to 6.8% in 2011.

Questions remain, however, about the nature of the interventions which encourage cycling. This section of the literature relating to cycling begins with a general review of issues in relation to the built environment and motivators related to cycling (Section 3.2) before then turning its attention to cycling safety in the generality and to consider which factors are relevant to interactions with autonomous vehicles (Section 3.3). The main section within this part of the literature review is Section 3.4 and this discusses interactions on links and at junctions. There is a final section which introduces the literature available on AVs and cyclist interactions in Section 3.5.

3.2 The built environment and behavioural motivators

Fraser and Lock (2010) sought to discover whether active transport strategies, which modify the built environment, have impact on physical activity and cycling in particular. The method consisted of a systematic literature review of experimental or observational studies that objectively evaluated the effect of the built environment on cycling. A total of 21 studies met the inclusion criteria, all of which were observational studies. These studies identified objectively-measured environmental factors with a significant positive association with cycling: presence of dedicated cycle routes or paths, separation of cycling from other traffic, high population density, short trip distance, proximity of a cycle path or green space and, for children, projects promoting 'safe routes to school'. Negative environmental factors included: perceived and objective traffic danger, long trip distance, steep inclines and distance from cycle paths. Of the seven studies which focused primarily on the impact of cycle routes, four demonstrated a statistically significant positive association.

Fraser and Lock note that many types of environmental policies and interventions have yet to be rigorously evaluated. It is unsurprising that both perceived and objective traffic danger are environmental factors which have a negative association with cycling, and the question remains open as to the impact that autonomous vehicles may have on these perceptions or in actuality.

In a survey of 1,402 current and potential cyclists in Metro Vancouver, 73 motivators and deterrents of cycling were evaluated (Winters *et al.* 2011). The top motivators, consistent among regular, frequent, occasional and potential cyclists, were: routes away from traffic noise and pollution; routes with beautiful scenery; and paths separated from traffic. The top deterrents were: ice and snow; streets with a lot of traffic; streets with glass/debris; streets with high speed traffic; and risk from motorists. In factor analysis, the 73 motivators were grouped into 15 factors. The following factors had the most influence on likelihood of cycling: safety; ease of cycling; weather conditions; route conditions; and interactions with motor vehicles. While these findings are based on behavioural intent rather than actual behaviour, they do indicate the importance of the location and design of bicycle routes to promote cycling.

Dill and McNeil (2013) examined the validity of a typology developed by the City of Portland, Oregon, that categorised cyclists into four groups regardless of their current cycling behaviour: 'the strong and the fearless,' 'the enthused and confident,' 'the interested but concerned,' and 'no way, no how'. The study, based on a random phone survey of adults in the Portland region, placed respondents (n = 908) into one of the four categories on the basis of how comfortable they felt cycling on a variety of facility types, their interest in cycling as a transport mode, and their physical ability to cycle. Nearly the entire sample fit clearly into one of the four categories.

A majority (56%) of the sample fitted in the 'interested but concerned' category: considered the key target market to increase the use of cycling as a form of transport. A reduction in traffic speed and an increase in the separation between bicycles and motor vehicles (e.g. cycle paths) might increase levels of comfort and

cycling rates for this category. General concern about the amount of traffic and traffic speeds in neighbourhoods, along with a lack of cycle lanes and destinations nearby, appeared to prevent 'interested but concerned' adults from cycling. Measures such as traffic speed controls, traffic calming, and planning oriented to mixed land use could help overcome these barriers, in addition to bicycle-specific infrastructure.

Women and older adults (55+ years of age) were under-represented among the more confident and those who currently cycled for transport, and both were most likely to be in the 'no way, no how' category or else to be non-cyclists in the 'enthused and confident' and the 'interested but concerned' categories. Other research (such as Garrard *et al.* 2012) has indicated that common barriers for women include concerns about traffic, different attitudes toward cycling, and complex travel patterns, including the transport of passengers. Physical inability to ride a bicycle contributes to the large share in the 'no way, no how' category among older respondents. Non-traditional bicycle technologies, including electric-assist bicycles (e-bikes) and adult tricycles, might help overcome this barrier.

Social influence seemed relevant in influencing whether an 'interested but concerned' adult cycled for transport purposes as opposed to leisure, with those that did not cycle being less likely to live or work with people that cycled for transport, or less likely to see people that looked like themselves on bicycles on city streets.

A correlation was found between the experience of cycling to school as a child and the level of comfort with cycling as an adult. The 'enthused and confident' adults were most likely to have cycled frequently to school as children, while most in the 'no way, no how' group said that they never rode to school as children. Importantly, whether a person within any of the categories had cycled to school did not appear to influence the likelihood to currently cycle for transport or recreation. Because cycling frequency did vary by category, however, these findings support the hypothesis that increased cycling to school could have longer-lasting effects on overall rates of cycling.

Time constraints were an important barrier to cycling for transport among the 'interested but concerned'. These could be addressed by land use and street patterns that shortened travel distances between destinations, as well as more direct cycle infrastructure. E-bikes might also be a solution for some adults.

Although self-reported knowledge of safe cycling practices in traffic was high, with more than 80% among the 'interested but concerned', a majority of all subgroups indicated an interest in learning more. It is unclear how much cycling education efforts would change levels of cycling. 'Interested but concerned' adults that did not cycle felt considerably less comfortable with the idea of cycling in the rain or in the dark.

Overall, we can see that, while there are complex and multi-factorial reasons why people may or may not cycle, there are significant groups of people who may be able to take advantage of the benefits of cycling if their perceptions of, and the realities of the hazards posed by motorised traffic can be ameliorated. An appropriate research question to ask is: will assist, in the generality, in changing the perceptions of hazard posed by motorised traffic to cycle users?

3.3 Cycling and risk from motorised traffic: the general issues

3.3.1 Human decisions within an infrastructure

Evidence from a review of the Dutch grey and academic literature (Twisk *et al.* 2015), including studies considering road users as well as infrastructure and vehicle measures related to cycling safety, found the following interventions to be important for better cycling safety: 1) area wide traffic calming; 2) roundabouts; 3) physically separated bicycle tracks; and 4) vehicle measures such as bicycle reflectors and truck side under ride protection.

The design of roundabouts can be quite different in different countries and in different circumstances. A socalled 'English' roundabout has flared approaches, wide circulating carriageways, acute entry angles and generous entry and exit radii allowing for 'easy exits'. Compact (sometimes called continental) roundabouts may have one entry lane, one circulating lane, orthogonal entries and exits and tight radii. Roundabouts can hence be designed either as high capacity and high-speed junctions, or as junctions that assist in traffic calming while at the same time allowing for inter-connection between different links in the network. The research on roundabouts relating to cycling may therefore – depending on the nature of the roundabout and its country of location – be found to decrease rather than increase cycling safety (Hels and Orozova-Bekkevold, 2007; Daniels *et al.*, 2009).

Herslund and Jørgensen (2003) found that drivers entering a roundabout demonstrated a larger critical gap (the time gap below which 50% of drivers would not enter the roundabout) for cars approaching around the roundabout (4.26 seconds) as compared with the situation when cyclists were approaching on the roundabout (3.33 seconds). The critical gap provided to cyclists when both cars and cycles were approaching was 4.70 seconds, but the critical gap given to approaching cars did not change significantly. The authors suggest that therefore cyclists are not overlooked at roundabouts based on the presence of other cars. It should be noted that these observations were made on Danish roundabouts and the authors conclude that if cyclists ride in between cars then bicycles are located where approaching car drivers search for other vehicles and this may reduce the risk of a driver not seeing a cyclist.

Among the future challenges for cycling policy, Twisk *et al.* (2015) identify the increasing prevalence of older cyclists as the population ages. Younger and older cyclists have been shown to be more vulnerable than other age groups, but for different reasons and with different consequences. Young cyclists experience a high frequency of collisions with motorised traffic, whereas for the elderly the problem lies with their frailty combined with a high frequency of single-bicycle crashes. Whilst collisions with motorised vehicles are responsible for the large majority of cyclist fatalities, single-bicycle crashes, i.e. falls and collisions with obstacles, are mostly responsible for serious and minor cyclist injuries, and are common in countries with high cycle modal share.

Another challenge is concerned with ensuring a safe interaction of cyclists with innovative types of vehicles, for example electric and/or hybrid vehicle and highly automated vehicles. Collisions between alternatively-powered vehicles, which may be much quieter than conventionally-fuelled vehicles especially at lower speeds, and cyclists and/or pedestrians, might be more frequent

A study that examined crash data in the US (Wu *et al.*, 2011), for example, found that the odds of a hybrid vehicle being in either a pedestrian or bicycle crash are greater, 35 percent and 57 percent respectively, than the odds of a vehicle with an internal combustion engine being in a similar crash. The explanation is that cyclists use their sense of hearing alongside their vision to detect the presence, location and direction of motorised traffic.

Increasingly, automated vehicles may behave differently from the way cyclists and pedestrians have learned to expect them to behave and this may lead to confusion, errors, fear and increasingly unsafe interactions. An important research question in respect of human understanding of the expectations of AV behaviour is: how does the presence of AVs with differing levels of automation affect interactions and decisions made by cyclists?

AVs, as they develop further, will begin to learn how to interact based on the recorded experiences the vehicles have had, and this machine learning will in some ways and to some extent parallel the way that humans have learned to interact on roads. This combination of machine and human learning and adaptation will co-evolve and the result will be revised 'cultures' and 'practices' in both the human and the machine. A

related research question concerning human understanding of AV behaviour is: how will the evolution of machine learning and related human learning take place while maintaining safe interactions between vehicles and cyclists?

3.3.2 Classifications of collision types

Walker (2007) states that a useful picture of how collisions between cyclists and vehicles happen is provided by large-scale collision data surveys that have been carried out in the United States by Cross and Fisher (1977), in New Zealand by Atkinson and Hurst (1983), and in the United Kingdom by Stone and Broughton (2003). Collisions at junctions are a significant proportion of all collisions. Cross and Fisher (1977) reported that bicyclist behaviours (such as manoeuvres that traverse the carriageway to undertake turns) and motorist behaviours (e.g. tailgating bicycles closely) play a part in overtaking collisions and rear-end collisions respectively. The relatively consistent findings across all the studies confirm that collisions with cars moving in the same direction as cyclists are particularly likely to lead to serious injury, although this is often the result of shunts from behind, as well as collisions during passing itself. The literature also distinguishes between same-direction collisions, e.g. when a cyclist moves out from the usual nearside position (to avoid a pothole for example) into the same path as may be used by a motor vehicle, and same-direction collisions which do not involve poor rider behaviour, e.g. when a cyclist who is travelling straight ahead is struck by a driver getting too close whilst passing.

So far as non-junction collisions are concerned, Pai (2011) developed a mixed multinomial model to predict the likelihood of a collision being of one of three types: striking a bicycle while overtaking, colliding into the rear of a cycle, or an occupant of a vehicle opening the door into the path of a passing cyclist. He found that buses and coaches as 'collision partners' were more likely in overtaking collisions (confirming previous studies), and that traversing manoeuvres by bicycles across the carriageway to make turning movements were associated with overtaking and rear-end collisions. A collision between a bicycle and a motorcycle is more likely to be a rear-end collision, and a collision between a bicycle and a taxi is more likely to be a door opening collision.

Where accidents occur on unlit roadways and in adverse weather conditions, they are more likely to be rearend crashes, which corroborates previous evidence (e.g. Wood *et al.* 2009) that the bicycle's poor conspicuousness, aggravated during night time, can increase risks of being struck from behind. An interesting research question is as follows: **to what extent would AVs be able to detect a cyclist in the road ahead when light and weather conditions are adverse?**

Roads in built-up areas were associated with more door opening collisions. Door collisions were more likely to occur on cycle lanes and one-way streets. Training and education of cyclists and motorists, especially certain groups such as taxi drivers, could assist. A further research question is as follows: What is the extent to which an AV, when not being driven, can remain what might be termed 'passively' safe by preventing passenger egress when it is not safe for the occupants or others in the vicinity, such as cyclists to do so?

3.4 Link and Junction interactions

This section is divided into seven parts as follows. 3.4.1 deals with models of the acceptability of cycling within the road environment in its generality. The following two sections (3.4.2 to 3.4.3) deal with overtaking on links and road narrowings. Junction issues are dealt with in the following three sections as follows: turning movements and priorities (3.4.4), issues in approach queues (3.4.5), and signalling of intentions (3.4.6). Section 3.4.7 provides some background on possible legislative developments in relation to the bicycle as a vehicle.

3.4.1 Acceptability models of cycling on links

Harkey *et al.* (1997) in an evaluation of cycle facilities videoed 13 sites in Florida, which had a cycle lane, a paved hard shoulder, or a wide kerb lane (i.e. no cycle lane but wider inside lane) facility. Still pictures were also taken when a driver overtook a cyclist. These data were used to establish a model, a Bicycle Compatibility Index (Harkey *et al.* 1998), useful to planners and engineers to determine the suitability of a road for cycling. The main variables affecting the separation distance between the cyclist and the overtaking vehicle were: the facility type, vehicle presence in the adjacent lane, the presence of an open drainage gulley, the number of lanes, the speed limit and the total width of the road. Significantly, where the facility was a wide lane adjacent to the kerb as opposed to a cycle lane, the mean separation distance increased. It was also noticed that cyclists tended to be closer to the kerb at these sites. The study also found that the extent to which a driver deviated on encountering a cyclist appeared to be dependent upon the area, rural or urban, with the deviation being greater in rural settings.

Parkin *et al.* (2007) extended previous work on the Bicycle Compatibility Index and estimated two models of perceived risk, based on non-linear least squares, and a model of acceptability, based on the logit model, for whole journeys based on responses from a sample of 144 commuters to video clips of routes and junctions. This study extended previous work on the perception of the risk of cycling by considering a whole journey, including junctions, and by covering a wide range of independent variables. These variables were based on twenty different route and junction types using a novel means of presentation based on video taken from a moving bicycle which clearly conveys the situations that cyclists might possibly experience.

The sample was drawn from employees of Bolton Metropolitan Borough Council, the University of Bolton and Bolton Royal Hospital between January and July 2002. Only respondents who were physically able to ride a bicycle took part in the survey and they were classified as "never cycle" (35.4%), "cycle on occasional holiday times and weekends" (38.9%) and "cycle between one and three times per month or at greater frequency" (25.7%).

The risk models quantified the effect of motor traffic volumes, demonstrated that roundabouts added more to perceived risk than traffic signal controlled junctions, and showed that right turn manoeuvres increased perceived risk.

In contrast to the views presented by Hopkinson and Wardman (1996) and Wardman *et al.* (1997, 2000), facilities for bicycle traffic along motor trafficked routes and at junctions were shown to have little effect on perceived risk and this brings into question the value of such facilities in promoting bicycle use. This might be explained by respondents considering the presence of facilities as pointing to the presence of a hazardous situation, but that the facilities have not overcome the perceived hazard. The implication is that the provision of facilities at a junction may have a counter-intuitive effect and suggest to potential cyclists that the junction is more risky than it might otherwise have been perceived to be. Other factors such as the two-way flows and the number of parked vehicles *en route* also influenced the perceived risk.

The acceptability model confirmed the effect of reduced perceived risk in traffic free conditions and the effects of signal-controlled junctions and right turns. The interesting question that possible introduction of AVs into the traffic stream raises is as follows: **how may perceived risk within a network be altered for cycle users by the presence of AVs in the vehicle stream?**

3.4.2 Overtaking distance and lane markings

Motor traffic passing a cyclist exerts a lateral force because of the air turbulence created (Parkin & Meyers 2010). The kinematic envelope⁸ of a bicycle is wider than its physical size, and a buffer zone beyond the kinematic envelope is needed for safety reasons and to limit the feelings of danger resulting from closely passing motor traffic moving at a different speed. The space recommended varies between countries (Allen *et al.*, 1998). The UK Highway Code (UK Government, 2013) indicates that drivers overtaking cyclists should leave at least the width of a car (Rule 163). The Federal Highway Administration suggest a tolerance limit is defined as 16N (3.5 lbs), equivalent to heavy goods vehicle traffic travelling at 50mph, which is 1.2m from the cyclist. This is a little less than the force experienced during normal service braking of cyclists.

Dutch design guidance (CROW, 1993) identified three categories of cross-section in relation to joint cycle and motor traffic use as follows: 'tight' cross-sections along which it is not possible for an overtaking manoeuvre to be made without encroaching into the oncoming traffic lane; 'spacious' cross-sections which provide for adequate passing distance without having to cross the centre-line; and 'critical' cross-section (which include the typical lane width of 3.65m as adopted in the UK, for example). The critical cross-section provides sufficient width for drivers to overtake, but in so doing they will leave inadequate distance to the cycle user they are passing. The decision to overtake or not may be influenced by the driver's perception of the consequence of crossing a line marking, and whether oncoming vehicles are present (Goodridge, 2006; McHenry and Wallace, 1985).

The UK Traffic Signs Manual states a minimum cycle lane width of 1.5m (DfT, 2003) although the Manual for Streets recommends 2.0m (DfT, 2007). Cosma (2012) and Hunter *et al.* (2011) suggest that cycle lanes can provide reassurance for inexperienced cyclists and help to remind vehicle drivers that cyclists may be present.

Centre-line road markings have been used since 1914 (Debell, 2003). Some research suggests that speeds are reduced when centre-lines are removed (DfT, 2007; Debell, 2003; Kennedy *et al.*, 2005). Guidelines in the Traffic Signs Manual allow omission of the centre-line if rural roads are less than 5.5m wide (DfT, 2003), and this guidance demonstrates the way that custom and practice has developed whereby centre-line marking is the default approach. There is a lack of research on the safety of centre-line road markings, particularly in relation to vulnerable road users (Stewart & McHale 2014). An interesting question in relation to AVs and cyclists is: **Are AVs able to overtake cyclists both with and without centre line markings with no difference in the impact on cycle users perceptions of safety?**

Scholarly interest in studying interactions between motorists and cyclists during an overtaking manoeuvre dates back to the 1970s and explores various types of contexts in which the passing takes place and the effect of various features including the presence of cycle lanes. The current literature in the field of cycle lanes has often shown contradictory evidence as to the benefits and risks of cycle lanes and previous work has specifically shown that on higher speed roads, drivers may pass closer to a cyclist when a cycle lane is present (Stewart & McHale 2014).

Early research studies, for example, (Kroll and Ramey, 1977; McHenry and Wallace, 1985) found no change in passing distances with cycle lanes. Kroll & Ramey (1977) carried out a study involving the filming of several urban streets, both with and without cycle lanes, in California, United States of America. This was supplemented by data from three additional sites both prior and post construction of cycle lanes. The research consisted of photographically capturing interactions between cyclists and other road users in. This study found that on streets with bicycle lanes:

⁸ The cross-sectional envelope defined by a moving vehicle.

- 1. Drivers, when passing cyclists, exhibited decreased variability in the deflection distance from their travelled path, but these results were conclusive only for roads with speeds of 35 mph or less.
- 2. There was no change in the mean separation distance between bicycles and motor vehicles.
- 3. Car displacement decreased (drivers maintained a smaller separation distance).
- 4. Lateral dispersion of bicycles and motor vehicles travelling alone was narrowed.

More recent work has found slower overtaking speeds for road widths of 3.0–6.4m without a cycle lane (Wilkinson *et al.*, 1992), and (with the exception of Chuang *et al.*, 2013) that cycle lane markings reduce the passing distance given to a cyclist by motor vehicle drivers (Parkin and Meyers, 2010; Harkey and Stewart, 1997; Wilkinson *et al.*, 1992). However, Haileyesus *et al.* (2007) suggest that cycle lanes deliver a safety benefit.

Parkin and Meyers (2010) collected proximity data of motor traffic overtaking cycle traffic on roads with and without cycle lanes using an instrumented bicycle. Three sites in Lancashire (two rural and one urban) were selected for analysis and had posted speed limits of 30mph, 40mph and 50mph (48kph, 64kph and 80kph). The study reported the recorded Annual Average Daily Traffic (AADT) flows at the sites. All cycle lanes used in the experiment were advisory and uncoloured.

The results show that significantly wider passing distances are adopted by motorists in the condition without a 1.45m cycle lane, with posted speed limits of 40mph and 50 mph with a 9.5m wide carriageway. These findings were not replicated for a similar width road with a posted speed limit of 30mph and a 1.3m cycle lane. These results suggest that in the presence of a cycle lane, drivers may be driving within the confines of their own marked lane with less recognition being given to the need to provide a comfortable passing distance to cycle traffic in the adjacent cycle lane. The data do not support a view as to what a comfortable passing distance should be and this would require further research considering objective measures of comfort, such as lateral force and noise, as well as self-reported ratings of comfort.

Chuang *et al.* (2013) investigated how motorised vehicle-related factors (passing vehicle type and passing time), road-related factors (surface condition, lane separation, and slow traffic separation), and cyclist-related factors (gender and the mean and variance of the wheel angle and speed before motorists passed) influenced the motorists' initial passing distance. Additionally, the study considered how these factors influenced the cyclists' behaviours after the motorists started to pass, in respect to their position (measured by the lateral distance to the passing motorists), changes in direction (measured by the wheel angle), and changes in speed. A quasi-naturalistic riding method and a first-person perspective were used. Thirty-four (16 male and 18 female) cyclists, aged 19-26 and recruited from a university campus in Taiwan, participated in the study by riding an instrumented bicycle in their natural way on a planned route in real traffic. Generally, the male participants appeared to have more experience riding a bicycle and a motorcycle. The study included 1380 incidents of left-side passing by motorists.

Initial passing distance and mean lateral distances were smaller for motorcycles than for cars and light goods vehicles. The minimum distance was 34 cm. The cyclists had weaker lateral stability when they were passed by buses. In addition, a longer passing time caused the cyclists to adopt cautious but less stable riding behaviours. Of the passes with a passing time longer than 1.3 seconds, 30% were produced by motorcycles, 43% by cars, 15% by light goods vehicles, 6% by buses, and 6% by heavy goods vehicles.

Concerning road-related factors, the existence of a solid white line separating cyclists from motorised traffic was shown to have a positive effect on initial vehicle passing distance and allowed the cyclists to ride in a different path than the one used by motorists, maintaining a low speed and remaining stable. When cyclists avoided road surface hazards, they reduced the initial passing distances that the motorists had chosen.

Considering cyclist-related factors, the motorists allowed a greater initial passing distance for female cyclists. There were also gender differences related to the cyclists' lateral control, and differences in road use experience may explain this gender difference. Furthermore, the cyclists' wheel angle⁹, speed, and speed variation affected the motorists' initial passing distance. These results also revealed that cyclists perceive and respond to risk in distinctive ways under different road conditions.

In terms of the relationship between vehicle type and overtaking behaviour, Basford *et al.* (2002) found that professional drivers of smaller vehicles were more likely to take risks and to overtake, while Sando and Moses (2011) found that smaller vehicles left less overtaking space. Walker's study (2007) did not take account of available carriageway widths or the widths of the passing vehicles but nevertheless showed that longer vehicles, such as buses and heavy goods vehicles, tended to get closer on average when passing the bicycle, a finding replicated by Parkin and Meyers (2010) when cycling 0.5m from the kerb. When platoon driving was considered (defined as when vehicles are within 5s of each other) no difference in overtaking proximities for cyclist positions of 0.5–0.8m from kerb were found by Walker *et al.* (2013), although a tendency for the following driver to pass closer was observed. Long vehicles were particularly associated with bicycle overtaking collisions in a study using United Kingdom police accident records (Pai 2011) and in an equivalent study using American data (Kim *et al.* 2007). This can indirectly suggest that closer proximities measured on the road by Walker (2007) and Parkin and Meyers (2010) might indeed translate into real collisions (Pai, 2011). Chuang *et al.*'s (2013) finding of decreased rider stability during a lengthy overtake could explain one possible mechanism for this.

The proximity and speed of motor traffic passing cyclists in non-separated conditions may be so close and so great as to cause discomfort. To understand how a variety of road design and driver behaviour factors affect overtaking speeds and distances, Shackel & Parkin (2014) considered the presence of cycle lanes on 20mph and 30mph roads, different lane widths, different lane markings, vehicle type, vehicle platooning and oncoming traffic. Data were collected from a bicycle ridden a distance of one metre from the kerb fitted with an ultrasonic distance detector and forward and sideways facing cameras. Reduced overtaking speeds were shown to correlate with narrower lanes, lower speed limits, and the absence of centre-line markings. Drivers passed slower if driving a long vehicle, driving in a platoon, and when approaching vehicles in the opposing carriageway were within five seconds of the passing point. Increased passing distances were found where there were wider or dual lane roads, and in situations where oncoming vehicles were further away and not in a platoon. In mixed traffic conditions, cyclists will be better accommodated by wider cross-sections, lower speed limits and the removal of the centre-line marking.

Utilising an instrumented bicycle, Stewart & McHale (2014) collected data on overtaking speed and overtaking distance of vehicles in a range of circumstances, including the following: 20mph and 30mph speed limits; 'tight', 'critical' and 'spacious' widths; circumstances with a single lane, a cycle lane, two lanes, and a single lane with no centre-line. Vehicle types were noted, and whether or not oncoming vehicles were present was also recorded. A number of significant findings have emerged; some confirm previous results, while others are contradictory. For instance, users of roads with cycle lanes reacted more positively towards them when asked about them in qualitative studies; whilst in some cases drivers demonstrated 'more risky' behaviour (speeding and closer overtakes) at sites with cycle lanes when it came to quantitative data gathering. When a driver encounters a cyclist mid-block (i.e. not at a junction), there are more significant variables than the presence of a cycle lane that determines the overtaking distance.

The three most significant variables identified were: absolute road width, the presence of nearside parking and the presence of an opposing vehicle at the time of an overtaking manoeuvre. The analysis also

⁹ Angle of the front wheel relative to the frame

demonstrated that there is a larger unknown factor when it comes to overtaking distances, which Stewart & McHale (2014) suggest this may be the driver himself and will vary by area, site and even time of day (i.e. different driving cultures, congestion, or frustration during peak times, etc.).

The findings provide evidence for road design and management to better accommodate cyclists. Giving cyclists more road space has been and remains an issue in design guidance, for example UK Department of Transport guidance suggests providing 2m wide cycle lanes (DfT, 2008), and this is recommended by other researchers (Navin, 1994). The evidence presented by Stewart & McHale (2014) is inconclusive, however, on the effect of cycle lanes at posted speed limits of 20mph and 30mph. Cycle lanes have no beneficial effect on passing distances and speeds.

Chapman & Noyce (2012) collected real-time video and sensor data for 1,151 interactions between bicycles and motorised vehicles in south-western Dane County (South Central Wisconsin, US) along state and county trunk highways and local rural roads. This study found that:

- 1. Drivers operated in a technically unsafe manner by frequently performing passing manoeuvres outside of designated areas.
- 2. Despite the frequent comment from cyclists that drivers pass too closely, these actions were actually quite rare, at least for rural roads in the area around Madison, Wisconsin, accounting for only 0.5% of all the observed interactions (6 of 1,151). Drivers were far more likely to give cyclists more room than required, risking a centreline violation, even when conditions were not safe to do so.
- 3. As a group, the percentage of vehicle type and the percentage in violation for that vehicle type were approximately equal. Only pickup truck drivers were disproportionately likely to commit a moving violation.
- 4. Finally, cycle lanes (paved shoulders) directly affected the likelihood that a driver would commit a moving violation, with violation rates four to six times lower when a paved shoulder was available.

Walker (2007) used an ultrasonic distance sensor, mounted on a bicycle, to measure the space left by motorists as they overtook the bicycle in two United Kingdom cities (Bristol and Salisbury). This naturalistic experiment study showed the effects of the cyclist's lateral road position, helmet wearing and gender on the space left by passing vehicles. Drivers left less space (in the range 0.25–1.25 m) when the researcher rode towards the centre of the lane, in the morning peak hour than the evening peak hour, and when the rider was wearing a helmet. Instead, more room was given when the researcher wore a long wig so that he appeared to be a woman. Drivers also gave less room when overtaking a cyclist positioned further from the kerb. The results suggested that motorists may exhibit behavioural sensitivity to aspects of a cyclist's appearance and behaviour during an encounter.

Considering specifically the possible effects of the rider's appearance, Walker *et al.* (2014) studied whether drivers overtaking a bicyclist changed the proximities of their passes in response to the level of experience and skill signalled by the cyclist's appearance. Seven outfits were tested, ranging from a stereotypical sport rider's outfit, portraying high experience and skill, to a vest with 'novice cyclist' printed on the back, portraying low experience. A high-visibility bicycling jacket was also used, as were two commercially available safety vests, one featuring a prominent mention of the word 'police' and a warning that the rider was video-recording their journey, and one modelled after a police officer's jacket but with a letter changed so it read 'POLITE'. An ultrasonic distance sensor recorded the space left by vehicles passing the bicyclist on a regular commuting route in the South East of England. 5,690 data points were collected. The only outfit associated with a significant change in mean passing proximities was the police/video-recording jacket. Contrary to predictions, drivers treated the sports outfit and the 'novice cyclist' outfit equivalently, suggesting they do not adjust overtaking proximity as a function of a rider's perceived experience. Notably, whilst some outfits seemed to discourage motorists from passing within 1 m of the rider, approximately 1–2% of overtakes came

within 50 cm no matter which outfit was worn. This suggests there is little riders can do, by altering their appearance, to prevent the very closest overtakes; it is suggested that infrastructural, educational or legal measures are more promising for preventing drivers from passing extremely close to bicyclists. Fortunately, if properly programmed, these differences in passing distance should not be encountered when AVs pass cycle users.

The gender effect shown by Walker (2007) was later replicated in studies using real female riders by the Florida Department of Transportation (2011) and Chuang *et al.* (2013), in the United States and Taiwan respectively. Walker also found that vehicles passed closer the further out he cycled (Walker, 2006).

There remain questions about how an AV might be programmed to make decisions about overtaking cyclists. Rule 163 of the Highway Code instructs the driver as follows: 'You should ...move quickly past the vehicle you are overtaking...' and '...allow plenty of room...' and '...give motorcyclists, cyclists and horse riders at least as much room as you would give when overtaking a car...'. Hence there is not specified overtaking distance. An important question therefore is: For different speeds, what is an appropriate distance to be provided by an AV when overtaking a cyclist in order to provide a minimum level of comfort for the cyclist?

3.4.3 Interactions at road narrowings

Road narrowings can be created by pedestrian refuges, central islands, pinch points, chicanes, build-outs and hatching and other carriageway markings. There has been increasing utilisation of such features as traffic calming measures within the UK, particularly since the introduction of the Traffic Calming Act 1992 and Highways (Traffic Calming) Regulations in 1993 (Gibbard *et al.* 2004). The majority of the current guidance concerning road narrowing features can be found in the Department for Transport's Traffic Advisory Leaflets.

Gibbard *et al.* (2004) reported the results of a research study on Cyclists at Road Narrowings commissioned from TRL Limited by the Department for Transport. This was part of the UG171 Cycle Facilities and Engineering project, looking at the performance of several types of cycle facility. The research consisted of three main elements: 1. A consultation with cycle users to ascertain their views on road narrowing features and their experience of negotiating them in traffic. 2. Video surveys of sites where features were installed by highway authorities to assist cyclists in negotiating road narrowings. 3. Virtual reality simulations of encounters between drivers and cyclists, allowing the reactions of drivers to be accurately measured under a range of circumstances.

The consultation survey received a total of 393 responses and included 15.5% females and 84.5% males. The large majority of the responses were obtained from male cyclists aged between 30 and 50 who not only cycled frequently, but had done so for several years.

The study found negotiating road narrowings constituted a source of stress to cyclists (for 46.6% of the respondents). Although other road conditions were identified as being more stressful to cycle users, narrowings were nevertheless considered problematic, with 33.6% (more females than males) reporting they were intimidated by cars as they approached a road narrowing.

Among the features that made respondents feel the most stressed or vulnerable when cycling were: the need to travel around large roundabouts (36.4%), followed by high proportion of heavy vehicles (17.8%), turning right in traffic (12.2%) and fast traffic (11.2%). Conversely, among the conditions under which respondents felt most safe and confident when cycling were: slow traffic (46.3%), followed by traffic signals (14.5%) and road humps (10.9%). There was no significant variation in the type of response across age and gender but some variation dependent upon the frequency with which the respondent cycled.

When asked to indicate what most increased their concerns when cycling through road narrowings in the presence of another vehicle, respondents selected the following: if a vehicle passed them when moving

through the narrowing (39.2%); and if the vehicle looked or sounded as though it were moving fast (27.2%). More female than male participants stated that a vehicle passing at any distance whilst moving through a narrowing increased their concern. Similar proportions of males and females indicated that a vehicle sounding or looking as though it were moving fast increased their concerns (27.1% and 27.9% respectively).

The size of the vehicle also matters, with higher proportion of cyclists feeling intimidated or stressed by larger vehicles in a road narrowing. Conversely, smaller vehicles such as motorcycles appeared less stressful. The majority of respondents felt the presence of light vans (59.8%) and medium or heavy lorries (61.6%) made them feel intimidated or stressed when approaching a road narrowing, even those with more cycling experience. A greater proportion of female than male participants stated that they were intimidated by buses.

When large vehicles were present, some cyclists adopted various strategies, including riding on the footway and selecting alternative routes to avoid narrowing features. The cyclists who participated in the survey reported that they normally carried out certain actions such as looking behind, or making eye contact with drivers when they approached a road narrowing. However, most of the respondents indicated that they did not always carry out these actions, suggesting that familiarity and practice might encourage greater confidence and relaxation.

More than half (52.4%) always looked behind them on the approach to a road narrowing to check for other roads users, whilst a third usually did so. The distribution of responses to this question between female and male respondents was similar. 37.2% usually made eye contact with drivers as they approached a road narrowing, although a similar 31.6% only sometimes did so. 9.9% of males compared to 3.3% of females stated that they never made eye contact with drivers. Whilst 55.7% of males compared to 41% of females stated that they never pulled over, 52.5% of females compared to 39.2% of males sometimes pulled over. Overall, 30.5% sometimes moved into the centre of a lane to stop other vehicles from passing them at road narrowings, whilst 35.4% usually did so. 47.1% never moved onto the footway, whilst 46.8% sometimes did so. The use of eye contact at road narrowings by cycle users is a feature that needs to be researched in relation to autonomous vehicles. This mechanism will not be available. An interesting research question is: how will cycle users negotiate road narrowings with AVs without the facility to use eye contact as part of negotiating the manoeuvre?

Gender, age and frequency of cycling among respondents affected results in different ways. There was some indication that female respondents found negotiating road narrowings more stressful than their male counterparts. However, the relatively low proportion of female respondents made it difficult to reach firm conclusions about this. The age of the cyclists often seemed to have a bearing on the responses given, although the effect of age seemed contradictory across responses.

Concerning cycling frequency, those with greater amounts of regular cycling experience were less likely to pull over at a road narrowing, and felt more confident about moving into the centre of the lane when the road narrowed. They also appeared to be less cautious in their behaviour when approaching road narrowings.

Respondents noticed that many drivers accelerated to pass them before a road narrowing, and were unlikely to wait for them to clear the narrowing. However, the majority of the respondents indicated it was rare for drivers to sound their horn or 'rev' their engines when they encountered them at a road narrowing.

In sum, road narrowings were generally not sufficiently threatening to force cyclists to utilise the footway, or choose alternative routes for their journeys, but that these effects could occur in particular circumstances. This was also indicated by the fact that road narrowings did not feature especially highly as a feature that caused stress when cycling, and the majority of the respondents indicated that large roundabouts intimidated them the most. Nevertheless, while narrowings were considered relatively less stressful than some other situations, they appeared to have the capacity to cause anxiety and, at the extreme, behaviour

change, among cyclists. A higher proportion of respondents viewed road narrowings caused by traffic calming measures as more of a problem than those created by parked cars.

Road narrowings may reinforce the perception that parts of the highway network are inimical to cyclists and may contribute towards a reluctance to contemplate cycling among some members of the public. Where narrowing features are provided in order to calm traffic, Gibbard *et al.* (2004) recommend that they should not be installed where they lead to running widths of less than 4m, unless additional features to significantly reduce vehicle speeds are incorporated. They also recommend that where substandard width road narrowings are installed without speed reducing features, they should be closely monitored following installation. Even where road narrowings of 4 metres or above are installed, they may lead to difficulties for cyclists if they fail to reduce vehicle speeds.

Road narrowings, in some respects, may be said to work as traffic calming, with indications from this study that they may cause drivers to slow. When forced into close proximity to cyclists by features that narrow the roads, a significant proportion of vehicle drivers will brake. However, the survey results suggest that, even among experienced cyclists, this is likely to be at the cost of some stress to the cyclist. The calming effect of narrowings and the improved crossings for pedestrians are therefore achieved at a price to the cyclist in a significant proportion of cases.

The measures to assist cyclists at road narrowings were found to have limited benefit. This included some unexpected effects, such as appearing to encourage more risky behaviour among motorists, including passing closer to cyclists and attempting to overtake cyclists before the narrowing. The virtual reality testing found that, despite some gender differences in behaviour, central islands appeared to have a speed reducing effect on motor vehicles. The provision of a simple advisory cycle lane in conjunction with the traffic island appeared to have little significant effect on behaviour. A cycle lane with coloured surface was found to be more effective in promoting safer driving behaviour, reinforcing the finding from the video survey. Drivers recognised that cycling on the highway was not always pleasant and that narrowing features contributed to that.

The slowing of traffic speeds has potential to reduce actual and perceived risk to cyclists and it is recommended that cycle lanes introduced through road narrowings be given coloured surface treatment. Given the tendency of drivers to pass cyclists more closely where cycle lanes exist, Gibbard *et al.* (2004) recommends that the minimum recommended width of the cycle lane is 1.5m and, wherever possible, cycle lanes of 2m wide should be provided.

3.4.4 Turning movements and priorities

In Germany, the behaviour of road users during turn manoeuvres needs to comply with road traffic regulations (StVO), which state that a vehicle turning left or right must give way to cyclists cycling straight ahead. Schreiber *et al.* (2015) analysed collision data and made observations of traffic behaviour in Germany. Cycle tracks crossing side roads at a moderate or considerable set-back distance from the junction are problematic during a vehicle right turn (equivalent of the left turn in the UK). Sometimes this is exacerbated by obstructions to visibility that prevent or significantly reduce visual contact between motorists (on the carriageway) and cyclists (on the adjacent cycle track). At priority junctions it is the left turn into the side road (right turn in the UK) when cyclists are using the carriageway that are problematic. These types of collisions tend to be very severe despite not being the most frequent. When turning at junctions, whether or not there is other motor traffic in front of the turning vehicle, drivers need to be especially aware that cyclists may be approaching from behind and they may fall outside their field of vision. It is suggested that driver assistance systems may help prevent collisions between turning vehicles and cyclists, for example by detecting cyclists approaching from behind at high speed when the vehicle is making a turn at low speed;

and by detecting cyclists coming in the opposite direction of travel when the vehicle is making a left turn. A critically important question is: How accurate are AVs in detecting cyclists who are making straight on manoeuvres at junctions across side roads either within the carriageway or on adjacent cycle tracks and what is the ability of the AV to come to a correct decision about its behaviour in relation to the cyclist or cyclists?

75% of reported injury accidents to cyclists occur at junctions. In around 50% of the reported crashes at junctions, the cyclist is going straight ahead (Phil Jones Associates Ltd., 2016). Bikeability training teaches cyclists to protect themselves by taking up a primary position towards the centre of the carriageway when passing side roads to make themselves more visible to drivers and to prevent overtaking near the junction. This is not always possible on busy roads or in fast moving traffic. Moreover, painted cycle lanes and cycle tracks place cyclists right at the edge, making it difficult to be in a clear position within a driver's field of vision. The provision of more segregated infrastructure is welcome. However, designers and cyclists are concerned that the current laws do not offer adequate protection for cyclists travelling to the nearside of general traffic lanes (on the shared carriageway, in a painted cycle lane, or on a cycle track) who are at higher risk of collision with turning vehicles. Because of this risk, designers are often reluctant to create cycle tracks with priority across side roads, resulting in unattractive 'stop-start' facilities with no priority for cyclists, or expensive overly complicated solutions such as staggered toucan crossings. Consequently, many cyclists choose convenience over safety and remain on the carriageway where they have an uninterrupted right of way, even if a cycle track is provided. This undermines safety, thereby reducing the value of investment in cycling infrastructure.

The ambiguity about rights of way when turning is also problematic to pedestrians. This is especially the case for people with disabilities who need time to cross side roads, and for blind people who have must rely on drivers adhering to Rule 170 of the Highway Code. Britain is one of only four European countries without a 'Presumed Liability' that drivers are primarily responsible for collisions with pedestrians and cyclists unless proven to the contrary. Experts from continental Europe consulted by Phil Jones Associates Ltd (2016) considered that Presumed Liability was an important factor underpinning general driver behaviour around vulnerable users.

3.4.5 Issues in approach queues

Frings *et al.* (2014) extended the field of research relating to risk perception, attention allocation and behavioural intentions in the context of the approach to the end of a queue of traffic. The method involved tracking the eye movements of twenty cyclists viewing junction approaches presented on video, which included a variety of contexts: junctions featuring cycle lanes, large vs. small vehicles and differing kerb to vehicle distances. The study found that cyclists allocate around 60% of their attention to the nearside of vehicles they are approaching (side closest to kerb), and 40% to the offside (side furthest from kerb). Overall, cyclists considered near and offside passing as most risky. Waiting behind was the most frequent behavioural intention, followed by nearside and then offside passing. While cycle lane presence did not affect behaviour, it did lead to nearside passing being perceived as less risky, and to less attention being devoted to the offside. Wide kerb distances increased nearside passing intentions and lower associated perceptions of risk.

Large vehicles led to increased risk perceived with passing, and more attention directed towards the rear of vehicles, with reduced offside passing and increased intentions to remain behind the vehicle. Whether the vehicle was large or small, nearside passing was preferred around 30% of the time.

An interesting question: will AVs be regarded any differently by cycle users in terms of where they allocate attention as they approach an AV in a queue with the intention of overtaking it, and will cyclists make

different decisions about whether to overtake the AV or undertake it, and what will be cyclists perceptions of risk when they approach an AV when it is in a queue?

3.4.6 Signalling of intention at junctions

In three experiments Walker (2005) investigated drivers' responses when encountering cyclists at a T-junction. Twenty-five volunteers from the academic and administrative staff of a UK university took part in this study. They were aged between 19 and 58 (mean age 30) and all had normal or corrected-to-normal vision. The participants had been driving regularly for between 1 and 30 years (mean 10.32 years). In particular, a comparison was made between the cyclist indicating an upcoming turn with an arm signal, an informal signal of intent, or no signal. Overall, arm signals worked relatively well to inform drivers of the cyclist's intentions and were easier to perceive than informal signals. It was also found that simple failures to react to the cyclist in time were more common at shorter thinking times whereas incorrect positive responses were unaffected by thinking time. Arm signals often slowed down the participants' decision-making processes, leading to a lower probability of their stopping in time when the cyclist and the participant. These effects may come about because both arm signals and eye-contact are communicative acts and therefore produce extra stages of involuntary cognitive processing in the drivers, thereby slowing their reactions. An interesting question in relation to AVs is: what is the extent to which AVs are able to decipher cyclists arm signals accurately at junctions?

An experiment tracked drivers' gaze patterns as they made judgements about the manoeuvring intentions of a cyclist at a T-junction (Walker & Brosnan 2007). The stimuli involved a factorial manipulation of the cyclist's arm-signals and gaze cues, as well as whether the participant viewed the bicyclist from the major road or the minor road. Overall, the data support the idea that participants were engaging in a form of socio-cognitive processing. There was a strong tendency for the face to be the very first part of the scene attended to, and this tendency was unaffected by the cyclist's depicted actions (his gaze and arm-signals) as well as by the participant characteristics of gender and experience. When the cyclist appeared in their view, drivers' attention tended to go straight to his face most of the time. This effect was particularly pronounced in situations where the cyclist was effectively making eye-contact with the participant. This bias may help explain slow driver decision responses to cyclists seen in previous studies (Walker, 2005). The driver participants in this experiment were apparently unaware of any attentional bias they exhibited.

3.4.7 Pedal cycle legislation

A wide range of pedal cycle legislation is currently enforced in Great Britain, covering construction standards, point-of-sale requirements and in-use issues (Robinson & Scoon 2013). Some of this legislation is specific to pedal cycles (or just bicycles) or electrically assisted pedal cycles (EAPCs), while others are more general but contain pedal cycles within their scope (e.g. the General Product Safety Regulations and Vehicle Lighting Regulations). Much of the existing legislation, however, was originally developed 20-30 years ago and may not adequately reflect more recent developments in cycle use, consumer markets or in technology. There are also some potentially confusing anomalies and/or inconsistencies between individual pieces of legislation, e.g. with some differences between requirements for cycles at the point of sale and when in-use on public roads.

The Department for Transport is subject to a wide range of policy pressures, all having the potential both to conflict with and complement each other. Particularly significant are the pressures to reduce legislative burdens while maintaining or improving safety levels. Robinson and Scoon (2013) conducted a study that gathered, generated and expert-reviewed evidence from a wide variety of sources on the forces and pressures influencing pedal cycle construction, sale and use in Great Britain, and provided costed, practical

and appropriate options for legislative change. The methodology included reviews of published research literature, Red Tape Challenge responses, previous consultation responses, existing legislation, and of cycle accident data held within the STATS19 database, combined with comprehensive consultation with stakeholders from the cycle industry, cycling groups, local authorities, operators, professional bodies, road safety organisations and enforcement agencies.

The reviews and stakeholder discussions led to the development of the following major options for legislative change:

Option A – Do Nothing (retain all UK regulations in their current form)

Option B – EAPC harmonisation & Brakes simplifications. This involves:

- Removing weight limits for EAPCs;
- Harmonising EAPC maximum power and assisted speed with EU at 250 W & 25 km/h respectively;
- Continuing to classify as pedal cycles, subject to type approval, those EAPCs, with twist and go, that meet 250 W max output and 25 km/h power cut-off;
- Removing voltage marking requirement from the EAPC data plate;
- Allowing 2,3 or 4 wheeled EAPCs;
- Keeping handed brake levers but allow suppliers to swap left and right hand brakes if customer requests it;

Option C – as B + Lighting simplifications, involving:

- Removing all references to British (lighting) Standards, relying on manufacturer and consumer choice to ensure lights and reflectors give adequate performance;
- As a minimum requirement, fitting front and rear light and rear reflector if the cycle is used at night, aimed to avoid dazzle or discomfort, properly maintained, etc.
- Option D as C + Reflector simplifications, involving:
- Removing requirement for pedal reflectors to be fitted at point of sale and in-use;
- Removing requirement for rear reflectors to be wide-angle type;
- Removing requirement for side and front reflectors to be fitted at point of sale.

The options for bells are:

- X keep the existing requirements (for a bell at point of sale);
- Y simplify by allowing audible warning device as alternative at point of sale (subject to performance requirements);
- Z de-regulate by removing requirements for a bell.

A formal impact assessment, carried out in accordance with the Better Regulation guidelines, has provided estimates of the net present value of the benefits of the various regulatory options over the period 2015-2024, most of which stem from encouraging the EAPC and goods-delivery markets, with a small additional potential benefit from simplification of the reflector requirements.

The overall NPV of benefits for EAPC harmonisation and simplification of the braking requirements is estimated to be in the range £551 million to £1,191 million (central estimate £871m) at current prices over the ten year evaluation period (all of which comes from the EAPC changes alone), while simplifying the reflector requirements might take the overall maximum NPV up to £1,274 million (central estimate £912m).

Simplifying the lighting and braking requirements, and options for changes to the requirement affecting bells were found, on their own, unlikely to have any net overall cost or benefit.

Over the ten-year period to 2024, with 2014 as the base year and using a discount rate of 3.5%, these savings would be shared amongst:

- consumers (through car operating cost savings and health benefits), £0.42- £0.95 billion;
- businesses (through congestion cost savings, point of sale savings and goods- delivery/van operational savings), £0.13 £0.32 billion and;
- the environment (through greenhouse gas reductions), £4 £8 million.

Allowing for the various uncertainties in the assumptions made to generate these savings estimates, the overall benefits range could be somewhere in the range $\pm 0.40 - \pm 1.63$ billion. The most significant influence on the overall savings estimate is the assumptions regarding EAPC sales growth, and particularly the difference in that sales growth that might result from the Option B implementation (harmonisation).

Phil Jones Associates Ltd (2016) makes a number of recommendations for changes to the law. The Highway Code is revised approximately every ten years to take account of new signs, markings and other legislation and was last revised in 2007. Recent changes to the Traffic Signs and General Directions may prompt a revision of the Highway Code, offering an opportunity to strengthen protection for pedestrians and cyclists.

One option is to strengthen Highway Code Rules on Give Way to specifically include cyclists and cycle facilities. Changes to the Highway Code are expected to influence on drivers' behaviour over time, not only through new driver training but also by establishing a basis for assessing whether drivers are guilty of careless/dangerous driving offences by better defining what is considered reasonable and safe driving around cyclists and pedestrians at side roads. However, it would not introduce a direct offence.

Another option is to adopt Give-Way (or Diagram 1010 markings) as the marking of cycle tracks across side roads. This would require a revision of the regulations pertaining to the markings within TSRGD to make them enforceable under existing Section 36 of the Highways Act which requires drivers to obey traffic signals, signs and markings. Give-Way markings are universally understood and the same half-size marking is also used on cycle tracks. Using the give-way on entry as well as exit lanes of a side road with a priority crossing would be similar to the Netherlands. On-carriageway cycle lanes have the same status as bus lanes and there is already a requirement to give-way to cyclists when turning across them (stated in the Highway Code) although this is not widely observed or understood. The use of these markings would establish an enforceable requirement to yield on turning, and would complement the relaxation for cycle track crossings to be on a road hump in the 2016 TSRGD. No new primary legislation would be required. There are disadvantages in requiring road markings, for example due to visual impact. Recently completed sections of Cycle Superhighway 5 in south London have incorporated Diagram 1010 markings where side road entries cross the cycle track and appear to be well observed.

A third option is to adopt a 'Universal Duty to Give Way' to cyclists when turning, whether on a marked facility or not, which would be a new law as a section within the Highways Act. It would essentially embody the current advice in Rule 206 of the Highway Code but extend it to include cyclists on the carriageway. It would build on the existing accepted driver behaviour where a vehicle travels over a footway crossover and pedestrians enjoy priority. One advantage of a universal law is that it would reduce the requirement for additional give way markings at every minor side street, thus reducing street clutter associated with cycle facilities, and it would offer both pedestrians and cyclists greater legal protection when crossing. For all road users, a universal law offers clarity about expected behaviours compared to the wide variety of situations and differing priorities that occur at present. This would simplify enforcement and ease understanding and compliance.

A final option is to ratify the 1968 Vienna Convention for traffic signals to permit crossing movements at the same time as turns into a side road, supported by the universal duty to give way as above. Permitting traffic

turning into a side road to be released at the same time as pedestrians crossing the side road would reduce delays to all users. Pedestrians and cyclists would get longer crossing times, while turning vehicles would only be delayed when a pedestrian or cyclist is present, not at every phase of the lights. This would also reduce the requirement for shared footways or separate signal phases for cyclists at junctions where cyclists are permitted to make turns that are banned to other vehicles because cyclists could remain on the carriageway or separate cycle track. The signalling arrangements would bring the UK into line with other European nations and would bring greater consistency in traffic behaviour at signalised and non-signalised junctions, leading to safety benefits over time. Deaf and blind people would not be disadvantaged providing the universal duty to give way applies, although at present they have the additional benefit of fully separate signals in the UK.

Suggestions about changes in law are a reminder that an AV would not only need to be able to navigate within the existing infrastructure and rules of the road but also within any future changes in rules, some of which may be introduced specifically with AVs in mind, while other changes may pose greater challenges to AV use.

A potential research question is as follows: what legislative changes might be particularly appropriate or helpful in the context of managing AV interactions with other road users?

3.5 Interactions with AVs

Modelling the behaviour of AVs almost always ignores the presence of and interaction with cyclists and pedestrians. For example, the MITs Senseable City Lab project DriveWAVE produced a video of how an urban intersection might operate in a world of driverless cars. However, this does not show any pedestrians or cyclists (Jaffe, 2015).

Blau (2015) claims that most of the existing literature addresses interactions from the point of view of AVs as opposed to that of non-motorised users. The questions that need addressing include: what roles will cyclists and pedestrians have in a driverless society? How will the presence of driverless vehicles change pedestrians' and cyclists' facility preferences and behaviour?

His literature review of cyclists' perceptions of and preferences for different types of infrastructure reveals that, despite some disagreement, most sources claim that riders prefer segregated facilities. Fear of motorised traffic is also a major deterrent and certain key factors, namely motorised traffic speed, volume and street width, have been consistently shown to influence cyclists' and pedestrians' preferences and behaviours. Blau (2015) suggest that these road traffic features can change, albeit in different ways for urban and arterial roads. Declining levels of personal car ownership and increased levels of car/lift sharing services, coupled with automation, could contribute to less congestion and lower speeds in urban areas, while potentially higher speeds could be found in motorways. AVs would also require less road space and they would make more efficient use of the available road space, which could lead to increased space available for allocation to pedestrians and cyclists.

A web-based stated-preference survey administered by Blau (2015) asked respondents (n= 1,312) to select their preferred facility (wide shoulder, bike lane with and without buffer, and segregated cycle track) in various scenarios, with and without the presence of driverless vehicles, on-street types of varying motorized traffic volumes and speeds and different types of intersections. Three types of roads were considered: Street Type 1 was a quiet, two lane residential street with slow traffic and few vehicle; Street Type 2 was a moderately busy, three to four lane avenue with a mix of local and through-traffic, and speeds under 35 mph; Street Type 3 was a major boulevard with more than four lanes and lots of traffic travelling over 35mph. An ordered logit model showed that street type had a very strong influence on cyclists' preferences for more separated facilities as traffic volume and speed increased. Preference for separated bicycle facilities grows with increased motorized traffic speed, volume, and street width. Preference for protected, horizontally

separated facilities increases with each Street Type in current conditions (i.e. with no AVs), and preferences for protected, horizontally and vertically separated facilities increases with each Street Type in driverless vehicle conditions. This trend was more amplified for female than male respondents, and less amplified for those with prior knowledge of AVs and those with more cycling experience. Signalized intersection, separate lanes and universal Automated Intersection Management (capable of detecting vehicles as well as non-motorised road users) are the most preferred facilities when AVs are introduced, coming in second and first, respectively, for both Street Types 2 and 3.

An essay by Prof John Adams, UCL, (Adams, 2015) examines how current visions of a driverless future neglect to take full account of pedestrians and cyclists and focus on vehicle to vehicle interactions controlled by an algorithm. But these descriptions and demonstrations also stress that in the case of interactions between AVs and people (pedestrians and cyclists) the cars will have to be programmed to behave 'deferentially'. According to Adams, this could lead to AVs spending their time 'going nowhere', suggesting that AVs may not be a very efficient transport mode in urban environments.

This was exemplified by a chance encounter between a Google driverless vehicle and a cyclist (Lewis, 2015) during a test drive on a public road in Austin, Texas. Although the car had arrived first at the intersection and had right of way, it was tricked by the track stand manoeuvre executed by the cyclist while he waited for the AV to go, and was unable to move from the intersection for a whole two minutes.

This reminds us that the variety and complexity of human behaviours that AVs will need to understand is very broad and very subtle.

3.6 Summary

Many of the issues in relation to the interaction of AVs with non-autonomous motor vehicles are similar for the interactions between AVs and cyclists. However, the interactions are brought into a sharper relief because of the more severe consequences of a collision occurring. In addition to, there is a wider range of complication concerning the interactions which relate to the ability of AVs to properly detect cyclists and detect their intentions via, for example arm signals. It is possible, but by no means certain, the road environment may become more comfortable for cycle users as a result of the presence of AVs within the vehicle mix as a result of greater compliance with the rules of the road. However, in some cases these rules of the road, for example overtaking distances to be offered by an overtaking vehicle, are presently rather vague. There are some possible significant additional advantages from the presence of AVs for example in remaining passively safe when not being driven by not allowing passengers to open doors when cars are parked in the road when a cyclists is overtaking.

4 Interactions between vehicles and pedestrians

4.1 Introduction

How 'street' or 'road' space has been used, perceived and hence designed has changed over the course of history in response to new mobility technologies (trams, bicycles, motorcars). Following each transition, a new set of rules and societal norms emerges which govern how pedestrians are expected and are able to negotiate the built environment. The potential transition to autonomous vehicles (AVs) will be no exception.

The purpose of this part of the review is to examine evidence on how pedestrians interact with vehicular traffic. It is intended to provide insights into the functional requirements of AVs in replicating human behaviour at potential conflict points with pedestrians. In setting the context for the review, the report first briefly summarises how pedestrian priority has changed since the beginning of the 20th Century and considers how the approach to planning transport networks has evolved. Section three then reviews studies of how pedestrians currently interact with motor vehicles in different contexts (along links and at crossing points). The final section summarises the sorts of 'pedestrian protection systems' that are currently being

developed for conventional cars, and considers some early stage designs for systems that would allow AVs to communicate with pedestrians in complex environments.

4.1.1 Historical context: Changing pedestrian priority

Before mass motorisation, streets were seen as places of social exchange in which the pedestrian had priority - apart from along the busiest thoroughfares perhaps, which during the early days of industrialisation, would be traversed by horse-drawn and later electric trams and bicycles. Even along these busier routes, there was little need for complex systems of traffic management and control, given the limited number and speeds of vehicles, and pedestrians remained relatively free to negotiate road crossings at their will.

This position of pedestrian priority remained in the early days of the private motor car. Indeed, a public backlash against the motor industry emerged in the US in the 1920s in response to the increasing numbers of pedestrians that were being killed or seriously injured by motor cars. Politicians were urged to introduce laws, not to restrict pedestrian movements, but to reduce vehicle speeds. This backlash against the motor industry has been suggested to have been significant enough to have contributed to a dip in US vehicle sales between 1923 and 1924, which had otherwise been steadily rising.

The response of the motor industry and their powerful lobby groups was robust and effective. By contrast, they sought to characterise pedestrians as the irresponsible party in the battle for road space. The term 'jaywalking'¹⁰ was coined successfully, to describe the act of crossing the road without due care and attention and pedestrians were encouraged to only cross roads at street corners (Thompson 2014). This marked the beginnings of a process of diminishing priority for pedestrians over the course of the 20th Century, both in the planning of transport networks and in their regulation. The notion that pedestrians should give way to the motor car became established as an accepted societal norm and to some extent reflected in law. Indeed, jaywalking later became (and remains) a criminal offence in America.

4.1.2 The planning of transport networks

The prospect of mass motorisation had far reaching implications for how urban areas and transport networks needed to be planned. As early as 1929, the French architect Le Corbusier, argued for the development of multi-level road networks to be imposed on ancient European cities. In the following quote (cited in (Fyfe 1998)), Le Corbusier exaggerates the problems associated with mixed use, polluted streets:

"It is the street of the pedestrian of a thousand years ago, it is a relic of the centuries: it is a nonfunctioning, an obsolete organ. The street wears us out. It is altogether disgusting! Why then does it still exist"

4.1.3 Buchanan's solution: Road hierarchies

The UK Government commissioned Colin Buchanan to examine the problem of accommodating large numbers of private cars in urban areas. In the seminal 'Traffic in Towns' report (Buchanan 1963), Buchanan proposed the development of hierarchical road networks based around two types of road i. *distributor roads*, designed primarily for the movement of private cars and ii. lower capacity *access roads* to serve buildings. Buildings were situated conceptually, within *environmental areas* which would be protected from large volumes of fast moving through traffic.

The overarching principle of this hierarchical approach was to separate traffic according to both the type of movement (e.g. fast moving through traffic versus slow moving access traffic) and the transport mode. The needs of pedestrians were thus considered to be best accommodated by segregating them (potentially by grade separation) from vehicular traffic. Hence, under this approach to network planning, pedestrian interactions with vehicular traffic would be minimised through design, as depicted in Figure 4:

¹⁰ Thompson (2014) suggest that 'jay' refers to a "derisive term for a country bumpkin"



Figure 4: Visions of a hierarchical transport network (Buchanan, 1963, p. 142, Figure 186)

4.1.4 Unintended consequences

The Traffic in Towns report (Buchanan 1963) was highly influential through the second half of the 20th Century, with many local highway authorities adopting functional road hierarchies in the planning of their road networks. However, the approach has been criticised in recent years. Marshall (2005) argued that functional road hierarchies have often failed (in their application rather than as conceived by Buchanan), to adequately cater for pedestrians and users of public transport. Hamilton-Baillie and Jones (2005) identified that the separation of vehicular traffic and social space, whilst well intended, could have the effect of cutting off residential or central urban areas when surrounded by arterial roads. These areas can be difficult to navigate on foot if access roads and district distributors are poorly connected. Segregation also limits the amount of space available for outdoor activity and produces poor quality public spaces or streets, which at the extreme may either become deserted at certain times of day (e.g. shopping precincts at night) or be dominated by vehicular traffic.

4.1.5 Alternative approaches

Hence, best practice now advocates the application of 'movement and place' hierarchies to assist with the sensitive design of transport networks. These seek to avoid the over prioritisation of movement at the expense of 'place making'. Manual for Streets published in 2007 (DfT 2007) provides guidance on how to plan walkable (permeable) residential neighbourhoods. It advocates the use of 'implicit design' techniques to reduce the dominance of vehicular traffic e.g. by limiting road widths, employing smaller turning radii at priority junctions and using sensitive landscaping. Such techniques reduce the need for the street furniture required for traditional traffic management and control techniques (e.g. signage, speed control humps) which can create cluttered environments. They also have the effect of equalising pedestrian and vehicle priority over road space and limit (rather than expect) segregation. At the extreme end of spectrum is the use of 'Shared Space', where there is no demarcation between pedestrian and vehicular spaces. In such contexts, pedestrian and vehicular movement is uncontrolled and it is left to the users to negotiate right of way. In comparison to the functional hierarchy approach, such principles require higher levels of interaction between pedestrians and vehicles.

4.1.6 The Highway Code

It is lastly relevant to briefly summarise the UK Highway Code (DfT 2016), which sets out a protocol for how to use the road. Many of the rules are backed by law. The 'Rules for Pedestrians' (extracts provided as Appendix A) characterise 'the road' as a hostile environment for pedestrians, in which motor vehicles are

expected to have priority. There are two circumstances under which pedestrians have priority over motor vehicles. These are: 1) when using a zebra crossing (motor vehicles are expected to slow down on approaches to zebra crossings, but pedestrians do not have priority until they have started crossing), and 2) when crossing a side road, a circumstance in which crossing (as opposed to waiting) pedestrians have priority over turning vehicles.

In contrast perhaps to the approaches set out in recent design guidance, the Highway Code advises pedestrians to navigate the built environment using and abiding by the traffic management measures that are provided for them (e.g. pavements, dedicated crossings, barriers). They are advised against following their own desire lines (e.g. do not cross diagonally across the road, do not cross between barriers). Hence this increases the importance of designing / engineering road networks that are sensitive to pedestrian needs. To date, there is no guidance for either motorists or pedestrians on how to interact in shared spaces.

4.1.7 Summary

The philosophy of network planning has moved from advocacy of pedestrian segregation at the beginning of the age of the motor car, towards the use of space sharing techniques in urban areas. Such modern 'Shared Space' approaches require and increase the number and complexity of interactions between pedestrians and vehicles.

The current UK Highway Code (DfT 2016) advises pedestrians to yield to motorists in most circumstances and to abide by the traffic management measures provided for them. Underlying these rules is the notion that interactions between users of the transport network are predominantly controlled through traffic engineering and regulation, rather than through on-road negotiations between users.

How planning thought and regulations will respond to the incorporation of AVs into the transport system is unknown at this stage. The level of physical segregation and changing codes of practice for how to use the transport system, will ultimately govern how AVs will be required to interact with pedestrians.

Thus the relevant research question so far as AVs is concerned is: how ought the Highway Code to be adapted to provide guidance to pedestrians (and other road users) on how to negotiate right of way with autonomous vehicles?

4.2 Pedestrian interactions with vehicular traffic

The review of pedestrian and AV interactions now turns to examine evidence on how pedestrians currently interact with vehicular traffic in different contexts (which are summarised in Table 3). Two broad themes are considered: firstly, pedestrian movement and vehicle interactions along links and secondly, pedestrian-vehicular interactions at crossings.

Link type	Pedestrian crossing type
Pedestrianised street	Not applicable
Shared space	Uncontrolled
Access road	Uncontrolled
Local distributor road	Zebra
District distributor road	Puffin / Pelican signal controlled
Primary distributor road	Grade separated

Table 2: Link and	pedestrian	crossing t	types
-------------------	------------	------------	-------

4.2.1 Pedestrian behaviour along links

Willis et al (2004) observe that 'remarkably little is known about how pedestrians actually negotiate urban spaces'. They analysed covertly-recorded video footage of pedestrians negotiating pavements along single-carriageway roads in York and Edinburgh, UK. 2613 pedestrians were recorded. The mean walking speed was

observed to be 1.47 m/s. Men (1.52 m/s) were shown to walk faster than women (1.42 m/s). Walking speeds declined with age (over 65s walked at 1.16 m/s compared to 1.47 m/s for those aged 26-50). Single pedestrians (1.52 m/s) walked faster than those in groups (1.36 m/s). Pedestrians were observed to walk more slowly in the middle of the day compared to the morning and evening commuting periods. Journey purpose, and hence 'time pressure' is therefore expected to affect walking speed.

With respect to spatial positioning, those walking in groups (22%) were more likely to walk in the road than single pedestrians (15%). Single pedestrians generally positioned themselves in the centre of the pavement suggesting that they prefer to maintain an equal amount of space on either side, rather than avoiding proximity to traffic. There were indications that having more space available was associated with higher walking speeds.

4.2.2 The effect of traffic on pedestrians

Hine and Russell (1996) investigate the 'barrier' effects of traffic on pedestrians. The traffic barrier is defined as: "the sum of inhibiting effects upon pedestrian behaviour resulting from the impact of traffic conditions: including physical (observable) and psychological (unobservable) impediments to pedestrian movement" (this is a development of the definition of severance provided in "Roads and Traffic in Urban Areas" (Department of Transport 1987)). It follows from this that the barrier effect of traffic cannot simply be measured through observation of pedestrian behaviour as no attempts to cross will be made if the pedestrian 'feels' unsafe.

A study is performed of the traffic barrier effects on pedestrians along two routes in Edinburgh, UK. The case study locations were mixed use streets with relatively high traffic flows (12 hour flows of 15,700 vehicles). This created conditions along which "major pedestrian / vehicular conflicts arise". Pedestrian and traffic conditions were video recorded. The video analysis was followed up with an on-street questionnaire survey and a number of in-depth interviews to examine pedestrian perceptions.

Crossing delay was found to be weakly correlated with traffic volume, and more strongly related to nearside than farside traffic volumes. Traffic speed (which is a function of traffic volume) was found to be less important to crossing delay. The young and elderly pedestrians experienced longer crossing delays and lower crossing ratios (number of pedestrians crossing divided by pedestrian flow) than other age groups. Longer crossing delays were also associated with steeper (straight across) crossing angles. Pedestrians accepted shorter gaps in heavier traffic conditions. 62 per cent of pedestrians were observed to cross from behind parked cars at one of the case study sites. This was found to be associated with steeper crossing angles, suggesting limited ability to choose the crossing route when faced with parked cars. Children and the elderly were found to be more inclined to use formal Pelican crossings than other age groups. Hence, overall, the barrier effect of traffic was shown to be amplified for children and the elderly relative to other age groups. The follow-up survey revealed that respondents were more inclined to choose a formal crossing in heavy traffic conditions, but when traffic slowed due to congestion, pedestrians were more inclined to cross informally.

Calvert (2015) conducted in-depth qualitative interviews with 31 pedestrians from Bristol, UK. 11 of these discussions were walk-along interviews with road conditions being discussed whilst walking in a city centre. Calvert collected empirical evidence supporting Taylor's (2003) contention that motor traffic can have substantial negative impacts on pedestrian experience. However, these impacts were found to be very variable, according to the pedestrian. Some were strongly and adversely effected by the proximity of traffic but others were untroubled by it. Calvert proposes that a number of mitigating factors may lessen the effects for the latter group. These include a perception that car use (often related to 'my car use') is necessary, apathy about the prospects of being able to reduce car use, empathy directed towards drivers and various types of barriers. Calvert suggests that motorised streets can be thought of as barriered spaces in a number of different respects: Barriers of various kinds, most obviously the pavement, can mitigate the negative effects of motor traffic's presence for the pedestrian, but can also impose a sense of restriction. The efficacy of barriers against the negative influence of traffic were very variable by participant. Traffic itself can also form a barrier, squeezing and marginalising pedestrians into narrow spaces. Thus a number of pedestrians

expressed relief and enjoyment at entering pedestrianised streets where these various barrier effects from traffic were lessened.

Calvert's participants did not overall report frustration at waiting to cross roads. What rare frustration was expressed was aimed at local councils rather than motorists. Predictably, older participants expressed some apprehension at crossing in time. One older participant related planning her walking route according to the placement of helpful crossing points. However, the pedestrians interviewed did not relate forgoing journeys, or significantly altering routes, due to barrier effects impeding crossing roads.

4.2.3 Interactions with vehicles in 'Shared Spaces'

As outlined in section 4.1.2, in traditional street designs, pedestrians are segregated from and hence do not physically interact with vehicles (though there is a psychological impediment). 'Shared Spaces', where pedestrians and vehicles have equal priority over road space, are an exception. These provide a context in which it is possible to examine how pedestrians and motorists negotiate right of way under different conditions.

Perceptions of drivers and pedestrians towards space sharing

Kaparias et al (2012) examine the differing perceptions of drivers and pedestrians towards shared space using a stated-preference design. A web based survey was completed by 871 pedestrians and 298 drivers. Pedestrian respondents were asked "Would you be comfortable moving around this space if it had the following combination of characteristics?" Drivers were asked "Would you be willing to drive on the below surface and share the space with pedestrians and cyclists?" Respondents were asked to evaluate this for a selection of 16 shared space scenarios (constructed based on seven attributes).

Pedestrians were found to prefer environments with low levels of vehicular traffic, high levels of pedestrian traffic, good lighting and pedestrian only facilities. Men and people aged less than 30 reported being more comfortable in shared spaces. Drivers were found to be less willing to share space as pedestrian numbers increased (particularly the numbers of elderly people and children), but prior knowledge increased willingness to share space. Male drivers reported greater willingness to share spaces than female drivers.

Prevalence of conflicts in Shared Spaces

Kaparias et al (2013) developed a 'pedestrian-vehicle conflict analysis method' and applied this to examine the number of conflicts occurring between pedestrians and vehicles along the Exhibition Road shared-space site in London, UK. The US Federal Highway Administration define conflicts as events "involving two or more road users, in which the action of one user causes the other user to make an evasive manoeuvre to avoid a collision". Kaparias et al (2013) classify conflict severity through consideration of: 1) Time to collision (between approaching road users and the projected collision point); 2) Severity of evasive action (i.e. how much users needed to decelerate); 3) Complexity of evasive action (categorised as 'simple' – deceleration only, or 'complex' – deceleration plus change of course) and 4) Distance to collision (between approaching road users and the projected collision point). Video data is used to assess the number of conflicts occurring before and after the conversion of Exhibition Road to shared space. The number of conflicts is shown to decrease after conversion, but it is also observed that pedestrian numbers increased, while vehicle numbers reduced.

Pedestrian - driver behaviour in shared space

Moody and Melia (2012) conducted an observational study of pedestrian behaviour in the Elwick Square shared space scheme in Ashford, Kent (UK). This scheme involved converting a one way inner ring road (traditional segregated design) into a two way, 20mph fully shared space environment. The square design also included marked 'courtesy crossings' around its periphery (where traditional crossings would ordinarily be positioned). Traffic volumes were of the order of 11,000 movements per day, which is high for a shared space scheme.

Video observations were used to record 179 crossing movements. 56% of the crossing movements involved moving around the periphery of the scheme, indicating that over half of those crossing sought to avoid conflicts with vehicles rather than following the most direct path. When conflicts between pedestrians and vehicles occurred, pedestrians tended to initially give way to the vehicle (in 72% of cases, though in 20% of cases, vehicles later gave way to pedestrians). The courtesy crossings were not treated as zebra crossings by drivers (who did not give way in the majority of cases). In follow up interviews (n=144), 72% of respondents stated that they 'worried about sharing space in Elwick Square'. 78% of respondents felt that they had less priority over vehicles compared to the previous street design. 64% stated that they would prefer traditional pavements and traffic light crossings. Men were found to hold more positive views than women.

An interesting question here is: how do AVs affect perceptions of shared space amongst different road users?

4.2.4 Summary

Walking speeds along links are found to be related to gender, age, journey purpose and pedestrian group size. There is little *physical* interaction between pedestrians and vehicles along links, since traditional street designs segregate pedestrians from vehicles. However, there is a *barrier effect* of traffic which relates to both physical and psychological impediments to pedestrian movements. Traffic barrier effects are more significant for children and the elderly.

Shared space schemes are preferred by pedestrians in low volume, low speed traffic environments. Pedestrians have shown a tendency to yield to motorists in heavily trafficked shared space schemes (based on a single UK case study).

The relevant research questions so far as AVs are concerned are: Will the 'barrier effects' of mixed traffic streams to pedestrians be increased or reduced by the presence of AVs? Will pedestrians feel more or less able to gain priority over AVs (compared to driven vehicles) in Shared Spaces?

4.3 Pedestrian-vehicle interactions at crossings

The report now reviews evidence in turn, of the behaviour of pedestrians at i) uncontrolled crossings, ii) designated (but un-signalised) crossings (including zebras) and iii) signalised crossings.

4.3.1 General crossing behaviour and uncontrolled crossings

At uncontrolled crossings, the cognitive burden on pedestrians and the potential for interaction with vehicles is heightened. Note that this section of the review includes observations on general pedestrian crossing behaviour such as gap acceptance and crossing speed, some of which emerged from studies of multiple crossing types.

Communications strategies

There seems to be surprisingly little research on the different communication strategies employed by drivers and pedestrians to negotiate conflict points, in the absence of traffic engineering control. Sucha (2014) conducted focus groups with pedestrians and drivers to examine their experiences of pedestrian crossings, perceptions of other road users and different means of communication. Pedestrians explained that they use eye-contact and hand signals to anticipate when it is safe to cross. Thank you signals are also employed (hand waving, nodding, smiling). Drivers reported using similar communication techniques, but also explained employing strategies such as not slowing down and maintaining a central road position to avoid having to stop for pedestrians.

The relevant research question so far as AVs is concerned is related: how will AV sensing be able to detect and react to signals that pedestrians are gesturing and how will these be interpreted by the AV in its decision making?

Walking speeds at crossings

Ishaque and Noland (2008) conduct a review of 'behavioural issues in pedestrian speed choice and street crossing behaviour'. The review concentrates on factors associated with pedestrian speed and the extent to which pedestrians 'comply with street crossing regulations'.

UK studies identified mean walking speeds at various crossing types of between 1.32 and 1.57 m/s for 'younger' adults. Elderly pedestrians have been observed to cross roads at lower speeds of between 1.11 and 1.16 m/s (on average) (Cresswell *et al.*, 1978; Wilson and Grayson, 1980; Griffiths *et al.*, 1984). In an older Swedish study (Sjostedt 1967, quoted by Sleight, 1972), children were observed to have the fastest crossing speeds. This was attributed to children being more likely to run across roads compared to other age groups. At signalised crossings, Gates et al (2005) confirmed that pedestrian crossing speeds increased outside of the pedestrian green phase (from 1.37 m/s to 1.52 m/s).

Crompton (1979) observed that crossing speed increases with delay at the kerbside, particularly when the delay increases beyond 15 seconds. This could be due to a desire to make up for lost time, or alternatively be related to higher traffic volumes, which necessitates faster crossing. Zebra crossings were shown to produce the lowest delay to pedestrians and the lowest crossing speed.

An interesting research question is therefore: Will AVs be able to detect different types of pedestrian (e.g. children and older people) in the environment and be primed to respond to potential crossing interactions accordingly.

Gap acceptance at crossings

An early UK (Manchester) study by Cohen et al (1955) (cited in Ishaque and Noland (2008)) found that every pedestrian (negotiating a 7m wide crossing) accepted gaps between approaching vehicles of 10.5 seconds or more, but no one accepted gaps of less than 1.5 seconds. 92% of pedestrians crossed the road where gaps were seven seconds or more. Das et al (2005) observed (in an Indian study) that pedestrians waiting on central refuges accepted shorter gaps than those waiting on the curb side. This is also observed in Hamed (2001).

Brewer et al (2006) report on a US study which examined gap acceptance at unsignalised crossings. Observational data on 42 crossing sites was analysed. In high traffic volume contexts, pedestrians were observed to seek 'rolling gaps' – where pedestrians do not wait for all lanes to clear, but instead anticipate where a gap will be available in the next lane. The 85th percentile for accepted gaps was found to lie between 5.0 seconds and 9.4 seconds.

An interesting research question is: will pedestrians adjust the gap that they are prepared to accept to make a crossing of a road when the next approaching vehicle is demonstrably an AV rather than a human-driven vehicle?

Compliance with crossing regulations

Non-compliance with regulations (e.g. avoiding designated crossings, or crossing on red signals) has been shown to be associated with carriageway width (and hence the risk profile of the crossing). People are more likely to take risks at narrower crossing points (e.g. Eustace 2001 (cited in Ishaque and Noland (2008), based on a study in Kansas, USA). It should be noted however, that non-compliance is not illegal in the UK. Increased waiting times at the kerbside have also been shown to be associated with non-compliance in North America. In a Canadian study by Baas (cited in Walker et al 2005), a waiting time of 40 seconds was identified as a threshold after which pedestrian non-compliance increases significantly.

Choosing where to cross

Sisiopiku et al (2003) analysed pedestrian crossing behaviour (using video recordings) at different crossing types located along a 1-km long boulevard in East Lansing in Michigan, USA. This analysis was followed up with a survey to examine perceptions of the crossing environment amongst 711 users of the street (students of a nearby university). 90 per cent of survey respondents explained that the distance to the crossing point was the main determinant of where they chose to cross. 83% of respondents noted that the availability of a 'midblock crosswalk' (a central refuge) influenced whether they crossed at a particular location or not. 61% of respondents agreed that motorists should only yield to pedestrians at designated cross-walks, though a

significant minority, 31 per cent, felt that motorists should always yield to pedestrians. With respect to pedestrian behaviour at signalised junctions, 90% of respondents stated that they would cross given an acceptable gap, or when traffic had cleared, rather than waiting for the green signal. Motorists turning into side streets were observed to generally fail to give way to pedestrians crossing the side street, even though pedestrians had priority during pedestrian green phases (which were shared with vehicles).

Socio-demographic and social-psychological relationships

Holland and Hill (2007) examined "the effect of age gender and driver status on pedestrians' intentions to cross the road in risky situations", applying the Theory of Planned Behaviour (TPB). They conduct a stated preference survey with 293 participants. The survey asked respondents to evaluate their intention to cross the road under three scenarios: Scenario A: Crossing a shopping street at an uncontrolled location in place of walking to a nearby crossing point; Scenario B: Crossing a busy dual carriageway by gap accepting; and Scenario C: Crossing on a bend where it appears there is no traffic (though visibility is poor).

Avoiding using a designated crossing along a shopping street was perceived to be the least risky situation. Intention to cross was shown to decline with age (older people were risk averse), but gender or driver status had no effect. In relation to constructs from the TPB, men and drivers were found to hold more positive attitudes towards crossing than women and non-drivers. Subjective norms (whether one believes others think you ought not to cross in different contexts) were found to more strongly predict the intentions of younger people, than the intentions of older people. The authors interpret their findings as suggesting that there are different decision making processes at play for different population groups (younger vs older pedestrians, driving vs non-driving pedestrians).

Evans and Norman (1998) conducted a similar stated preference survey (n=210) to examine the extent to which social-psychological constructs from the TPB predict intentions to cross roads in three potentially hazardous situations: gap accepting at a dual carriageway; crossing on the red man at a pelican crossing (in the presence of two other pedestrians) and crossing between parked cars along a residential street (instead of using a zebra crossing). The survey was conducted in West Glamorgan, Wales. Perceived behavioural control (how easy it is perceived to cross the road) was found to be the strongest predictor of intention to cross the road. Hence the authors suggest that crossing treatments ought to influence pedestrians' perceptions in improving safety at dangerous crossing points (making it look difficult to cross for example). Older people had lower intentions to cross the road than younger people. Perceived behavioural control was also found to be weakly correlated with perceptions of risk. Subjective norms were observed to be more important when other pedestrians were present (Scenario B). This indicates that people will consider how other pedestrians are behaving themselves as 'safe pedestrians' being less likely to report risky crossing behaviour.

de Lavalette et al (2009) "propose that crossing behaviour is determined partly by the task to be accomplished [crossing the road] and partly by the physical environment in which the crossing takes place". Crossing the road is contextualised as being secondary to the "journey itself", the purpose of which may alter crossing behaviour. They observe 4000 pedestrians crossing 12 junctions located in Montreal, Canada. The junctions were classified according to presence of pedestrian signals, number of traffic lanes, one or two way traffic. The paper presents an early analysis of the data which is not yet complete. They find that pedestrians are more likely to violate crossing regulations (crossing before signals allow) if there is no specific crossing signal for pedestrians, or if there is a central refuge (which reduces the traffic surveying burden on the pedestrians). They suggest that that "the environment has to be interpreted, notably in terms of its topographical features (e.g. number of lanes of traffic to cross), its infrastructure (e.g. presence of a central traffic island), its control systems (e.g. traffic signals for vehicles and pedestrians), but also within the context of the pedestrian's primary task (getting to school, going shopping, etc.)".

Hamed (2001) observed the crossing behaviour of 400 pedestrians in Amman, Jordan (350 of which were later interviewed). It is not clear how the crossings are controlled (although it appears they are not signalised and pedestrians gap accepted or waited for a motorists to yield). Crossing and waiting times and the number of attempts required to cross were recorded, as were traffic volumes, speeds and headways. The survey was conducted in September 1998.

Frequency of use of a particular crossing point (increasing familiarity) was observed to be associated with higher risk taking and lower waiting time, as was being on the way to work. Lower risk taking was associated with having been involved in a traffic collision, owning a private vehicle (indicating that drivers are more aware of crossing risk), being female, crossing with children, and being older. Waiting times were shown to reduce as the number of pedestrians increased, indicating that a larger pedestrian presence can increase 'right of way'. Pedestrians made more attempts to cross the road in heavy traffic and were observed to be sensitive to the type of approaching vehicle – the number of attempts to cross reduced if the approaching vehicle were a large bus (potentially in relation to lower approach speeds). On divided streets (with a central refuge), a longer waiting time at the first curb was found to be associated with greater risk taking in crossing from the central refuge – Pedestrians become impatient to cross.

The relevant research questions so far as AVs are concerned are: will pedestrians' intention to cross change as the approaching vehicle is demonstrably an AV? Will this intention to cross vary according to demographic (age, gender) or situational characteristics (traffic volume, road type, prior experience of AVs)?

4.3.2 Unsignalised designated (including zebra) crossings

Varhelyi (1998) examines "drivers' speed behaviour at a zebra crossing" in Lund, Sweden. He concludes from a review of international literature on behaviour at zebra crossings that: i. drivers give way to pedestrians in less than half of all encounters (between 4% and 30%); ii. drivers do not tend to adapt the speed sufficiently on approaches to zebras and that the presence of pedestrians at the kerbside does little to alter driver behaviour and iii. drivers are more willing to stop if they are already travelling slowly. He conducted his own observational study of driver behaviour on the approach to a zebra crossing along a two lane arterial road in Lund, Sweden. Pedestrians are found to gain priority in only 5% of interactions at the zebra crossing (of 790 observed encounters). He suggests that drivers "do not adapt the speed in such a way that they do not endanger pedestrians who are already on, or are about to step onto the zebra crossing". Indeed, three quarters of drivers were observed to maintain their speed or even accelerated as they approached the crossing. This is interpreted as a strategy used to maintain priority. He concludes that driver behaviour ought to be influenced prior to reaching a 'decision zone' which is identified as being 50m to 40m before the crossing.

The relevant research question so far as AVs are concerned is: Are AVs programmable to effectively and automatically adapt their speed within zebra crossing 'decision zones' regardless of whether pedestrians are present?

Turner et al (2006) conducted a study of motorist yielding behaviour at unsignallised intersections with designated pedestrian crossings in the USA. In the US, motorists are required to yield to pedestrians at marked crossings without signals. Data was collected at 42 crossing sites located across the country. All of the crossings were marked and involved one of three types of traffic management: 1. A red (stop) sign indicating presence of pedestrian crossing 2. Active devices that display a signal only when pedestrians are present 3. A treatment to increase the visibility of the crossing location. Video recordings were made during the daytime at the case study sites (in October and November 2003). Motorist yielding rates were calculated as the number of yielding motorists divided by the total number of motorists that ought to have yielded.

Red (stop or warning) signals were found to be highly effective, with yielding rates of 94%. These send a clear message to motorists. The active and treatment only crossings were less effective and generated a greater range of yielding responses (between 31% and 65% for active crossings and between 17% and 87% for treatments). This was attributed to greater variation in environmental conditions (E.g. traffic volumes, road widths). Indeed, for treatment crossings, the number of lanes crossed was found to be a significant predictor of motorist yielding rates. Flags, refuge islands and high visibility markings produced better compliance rates on lower speed roads (and this was statistically significant). It is concluded that the type of crossing does have an effect on motorist yielding behaviour.

The relevant research question so far as AVs are concerned is: What is the extent to which AVs are programmable to effectively and consistently respond to different types of crossing treatment?

A further type of uncontrolled crossing is the crossing of a side road connecting to a major road. Typically, a side road will bisect a footway and a pedestrian will have to cross the side road to proceed along the major road. This act of 'crossing' the side road, unlike the act of passing the side road if driving or cycling along the major road, creates a conflict between the pedestrian and any road user that is turning into, or turning out of, the side road. As Rule 8 of The Highway Code states, pedestrians have right of way across a side road if they have already begun to cross. This poses potentially interesting dilemmas depending on the relative speed of approach of the pedestrian and traffic within the carriageway.

A critically important question so far as AVs are concerned is as follows: **how good are AVs at detecting pedestrians approaching and crossing side roads and are they able to respond accordingly?** In a similar but related way, a further question is: **how do pedestrians react to a vehicle which is demonstrably autonomous when deciding whether to start to cross a side road?**

4.3.3 Signalised crossings

Signalised crossings aim to minimise conflicts between motorists and pedestrians, hence reducing the level of interaction between them.

Walker et al (2005) report on a comparison of pedestrian behaviour at Pelican and Puffin crossings. Puffin crossings replace a farside green man indicator with a nearside indicator (with the intention of focussing attention on oncoming traffic). Puffin type control uses on-crossing detection to vary the green time and uses waiting area detection to cancel demand if pedestrians move away after calling a pedestrian stage. The flashing amber - green man period used on Pelican crossings is also replaced with an extended red period for traffic (with a red signal also given to pedestrians). Puffin crossings are recommended by the UK Department for Transport for new installations and refurbishments of existing signal controlled crossings as opposed to the more traditional 'Pelican' type of control. Observations were taken at five Puffin sites which were paired with comparable Pelican sites.

No differences in the number of potential conflicts at Puffin and Pelican crossings were observed. Pedestrians were more likely to begin crossing on a flashing green man at Pelicans compared to the red extension period used at Puffins (1% of pedestrians at Pelicans compared to 0.1% of pedestrians at Puffins). This indicates that pedestrians react to positive signals to cross. Pedestrians were more likely to cross on red as waiting times increased.

Davies (1992) (cited in Sisiopiku et al 2003) conducted a study of pedestrian behaviour at the first round of 'Puffin' crossings installed in the UK. He found that over 50% of pedestrians chose to cross the road without pressing the push button to register their presence. The level of compliance was dependent on context e.g. Compliance was as low as 27% in London (a heavily trafficked urban environment) but was shown to be 49% in a small town.

Parkin and Wilson (2010) investigated in the UK, vehicle and pedestrian detection offered by 'Puffin' type control at signal controlled mid-block crossings. A survey of delays over fifty cycles caused to pedestrians and vehicles at three Puffin and three Pelican crossings (without pedestrian detection) with matched attributes was conducted. Pedestrian arrival times, time of demand request, pedestrian crossing times and vehicle delays were recorded. Observations were collected on pedestrians' behaviour relating the time when they called for a pedestrian stage, the time of the invitation to cross and the time at which they actually crossed.

Analysis of the data showed that there is an increase in delay to pedestrians and vehicles at Puffin crossings when compared with equivalent Pelican crossings. The increase in vehicle delay results from the generally longer time to return to a green signal aspect for motor traffic after a pedestrian green aspect. The data show that this additional time is not required for pedestrians to clear the crossing. The suggestion is that the flashing amber period of a Pelican, which occurs after the green period for pedestrians, performs this function adequately. Even under the high vehicle flow conditions which obtained during the survey periods, significant non-compliance in pressing the button to create a demand was observed at Puffins (maximum 28%), and this was more than at Pelicans (maximum 23%). Observations also suggest that the tuning of pedestrian detection equipment remains a significant issue. No conflicts were observed during the Pelican flashing amber period, but five red light violations were observed in the red period after the pedestrian period at Puffin crossings.

4.3.4 Summary

Walking speeds at crossings have been shown to be related to age, with elderly people crossing more slowly and children crossing more quickly than other age groups. Walking speeds increase when crossing from the middle of the road, or on a flashing green man at Pelican crossings.

Most pedestrians accept gaps of 7 seconds or more. 'Rolling gaps' are sought when traffic volumes are high.

Being risk averse is associated with being older, being female, owning a vehicle, and being unfamiliar with the crossing location. Younger people are more concerned about subjective norms. Crossing decisions are influenced by those of other nearby pedestrians in group situations.

Driver yielding rates at unsignalised crossings are influenced by treatment type and the road environment. Red signs with clear instructions are most effective (in the USA). It has been shown that the majority of drivers avoid yielding at zebra crossings.

An interesting research question is: what is the extent to which an AV will be able to detect the significant non-compliance with signal controlled crossings by pedestrians who have become frustrated with the delay imposed on them by the signalisation of crossings?

A further interesting question which leads on from this is: how will AVs respond to non-compliance (i.e. would an AV be required to defer to a pedestrian in its path in all situations when safe to do so, even on higher-speed roads)?

4.4 Pedestrian Protection Systems

Gandhi and Trivedi (2007) reviewed research into 'pedestrian protection systems' i.e. the use of intelligent transport systems to reduce the probability of vehicle to pedestrian collisions. They note that injuries to pedestrians can be prevented or reduced in severity through infrastructure and vehicle design. Infrastructure design refers to measures such as speed control, traffic management to separate pedestrians and vehicles (particularly at crossings as reviewed in section 4.2) and measures to increase pedestrian visibility such as improved lighting and removal of on-street parking. Vehicle design affects injury severity. Pedestrian fatalities are usually the result of head injuries, generally caused by the head coming into contact with a hard surface such as the windshield. 'Active hoods' enable bonnets to automatically rise during collisions so that the head comes into contact with a deformable surface.

4.4.1 Intermediate technology

A further enhancement, which is currently under development, is the use of vehicle mounted *pedestrian detection systems*. These are designed to provide drivers with either advanced warning of the presence of pedestrians or assistive braking in circumstances in which a collision is predicted to be unavoidable. Vehicles are equipped with sensors (optical, infrared, laser or radar) to monitor the surrounding environment. The sensors are mounted around the vehicle in order to provide binocular vision and depth perception. Image processing algorithms are used to distinguish pedestrian 'objects' from other features. Tracking algorithms predict pedestrian movements and the likelihood of collision.

There are a number of technical challenges however. Visibility from vehicle mounted sensors is limited. The effective visibility of the vehicle can be enhanced through the use of road side infrastructure which monitors pedestrian movements and vehicle activity and broadcasts this to passing vehicles. This can be deployed in highly populated or at risk areas e.g. near schools or on unprotected left (UK right) turns. A similar effect (improving sensing of the distant environment) can be achieved through the use of vehicle to vehicle communication, though both forms of communication technology are expensive.

It is notable that Gandhi and Trivedi (2007) observe that technology struggles to compete with the human sensory system which is highly effective at detecting surroundings and making decisions in real time.

4.4.2 Designs for autonomous vehicles

Technology companies have already started designing systems to enable AVs to communicate with pedestrians. A patent filed by Google in November 2015 (United States Patent Office 2015) describes a

system in which electronic displays are installed on vehicle panels to present messages to pedestrians (images or text) such as 'safe to cross' or a stop sign. Speaker systems are incorporated in the design to enable audible messages to be broadcast. The patent includes an aspiration to develop 'mechanisms that mimic human behaviour such as a robotic hand to make gestures or robotic eyes on the vehicle that allow the pedestrian to recognize that the vehicle "sees" the pedestrian.

4.4.3 Moral dilemmas

Lastly, it is informative to briefly consider challenging moral questions concerning how AVs ought to be programmed to minimise injury and death in the event of an unavoidable collision. For example, Goldhill (2015) asks "should driverless cars kill their own passengers to save a pedestrian"? This moral dilemma is analogous to the 'Trolley Problem' thought experiment (see Box 1).

Box 1: The Trolley Problem

Scenario A
A runaway train is heading towards five railway workers.
You have the option of operating a switch to divert the train onto a spur. There is only one railway employee
working on the spur.
Not operating the switch will mean that the train kills five workers.
Operating the switch will divert the train, but kill one worker.
Most people suggest that the switch should be operated to minimise the loss of life.
Scenario B
A runaway train is heading towards five railway workers.
In this case, there is no way of diverting the train.
But you have the option of pushing a large man onto the track.
This will kill the large man, but will save the five railway workers.
Most people suggest that pushing the man into the track is the wrong course of action, even though it leads
to the same outcome as scenario A (minimising loss of life).
https://www.voutube.com/watch?v=bOnf6KcW/Yvw

The different responses to the two scenarios arise from the trade-off between a desire to minimise loss of life on the one hand and to not directly cause harm to another human being on the other. Proponents of 'utilitarianism' argue that the correct course of action is always the one that 'maximises happiness', in this case minimising the loss of life. This rational approach suggests that AVs should always be programmed to limit the number of fatalities, even if this means killing a pedestrian. However, philosophers have argued that it is necessary to also consider who is morally responsible for the loss of life. For instance, if the AV contains only adults that ought to be aware of the risks when entering the vehicle, then the AV should not be programmed to kill any number of pedestrians in order to save the lives of its passengers. This situation becomes less justifiable as the number of child passengers in the AV increases. Bonnefon et al. (2015) conducted an online survey (n=201) to examine lay views on this topic. 75 per cent of respondents agreed that an AV should swerve into a barrier (killing its sole passenger) to save 10 pedestrians.

Hence an area that demands further research is as follows: **how does the general population think AVs ought to be programmed to take action in the event of unavoidable collisions involving pedestrians?**

5 Conclusions and research questions

The review has covered literature pertaining directly to Autonomous Vehicles, to interactions between motor vehicles and the principal other forms of traffic found on urban roads, namely cycle users and pedestrians, and interactions between vehicles and infrastructure. It has included literature from around the world where driving behaviour and the nature of the infrastructure may be different from the UK situation.

This wide-ranging purview was deliberate in order to develop as many of the appropriate research questions as possible that are relevant to the introduction of autonomous vehicles in mixed conditions in the urban environment. As a framework, we defined four Use Scenarios as follows to help understand the context of

possible AV use: 1) Fully segregated AV network, 2) Motorway or expressway network, 3) Typical Urban network, 4) Shared space. The focus of the research will however, be in relation to Use Scenarios 3 and 4. The table below summarises the research questions that have emanated from the literature review and each has been assessed in terms of the ability of the Venturer trial to provide an answer to the question. It is envisaged that only the seventeen question that have been rated as having a high ability to be answered by the trial will be given further consideration in the development of the interaction trials.

Section	Research Question	Ability to	Comment
		answer	
2.2	What decision making behaviour may be required of an AV to deal with aggressive behaviour of a human driver in a following vehicle?	Low	Difficult to establish and measure responses in free-flowing traffic.
2.3.1	As a result of their greater predictability, will the presence of autonomous vehicles introduce a degree of additional control into the vehicle mix, resulting in fewer errors by drivers?	Low	Only one AV is being used in the trials.
2.3.1	Do approaching AVs, when they are clearly distinguishable as such, engender a different gap acceptance behaviour amongst other road users, at priority junctions?	High	The issue of gap acceptance is a central issue in priority junction control.
2.3.2	Do approaching AVs, when they are clearly distinguishable as such, engender a different gap acceptance behaviour amongst other road users, at roundabouts?	High	Despite being a relevant and highly possible condition to test, it is likely that the majority of the information on gap acceptance may be derived from behaviour at priority junctions, as above.
2.3.3	Do approaching AVs, when they are clearly distinguishable as such, engender a different gap acceptance behaviour amongst other road users, at merges?	Low	This scenario would require testing on high speed roads and is outside the scope of the trials.
2.3.5	How will AVs behave in shared space? (See also research question from section 4.2.3)	High	While Shared Space is currently limited in extent, it is likely to become more prevalent. Rudimentary shared space is relatively easy scenario to create.

2.5.1	How for example might an AV manage a situation in which another driver is being deliberately antagonistic, driving in a manner with the intention to harm the AV and/or its occupants, or simply driving with poor care and attention to the task of driving?	Low	It would be difficult to create such a situation in a trial.
3.2	Will AVs assist, in the generality, in changing the perceptions of hazard posed by motorised traffic to cycle users?	Low	This question is only able to be answered in the long term
3.3.1	How does the presence of AVs with differing levels of automation affect interactions and decisions made by cyclists?	Low	This is an important question but it is difficult to answer in the context of the Venturer trial.
3.3.1	How will the evolution of machine learning and related human learning take place while maintaining safe interactions between vehicles and cyclists?	Low	Again, this is an important, but a question that may be answered only in the longer term.
3.3.2	To what extent would AVs be able to detect a cyclist in the road ahead when light and weather conditions are adverse?	Medium	This is an important question, but would be possible, but difficult to engineer in the context of the Venturer trials.
3.3.2	What is the extent to which an AV, when not being driven, can remain what might be termed 'passively' safe by preventing passenger egress when it is not safe for the occupants or others in the vicinity, such as cyclists to do so?	High	This ought be technologically easy to specify and can be readily tested.
3.4.1	How may perceived risk within a network be altered for cycle users by the presence of AVs in the vehicle stream?	Low	Not possible in the context of the Venturer trials
3.4.2	Are AVs able to overtake cyclists both with and without centre line markings with no difference in the impact on cycle users perceptions of safety?	High	Responses to overtaking behaviour in a variety of circumstances is important to estimate.
3.4.2	For different speeds, what is an appropriate distance to be provided by an AV when overtaking a cyclist in order to provide a minimum level of comfort for the cyclist?	High	AVs could have a significant beneficial impact within the road environment if they reduce the perceptions of danger linked with overtaking.

3.4.3	How will cycle users negotiate road narrowings with AVs without the facility to use eye contact as part of negotiating the manoeuvre?	High	Road narrowings are a regular feature of the road network and cause significant issues in relation to overtaking and general driver behaviour.
3.4.4	How accurate are AVs in detecting cyclists who are making straight on manoeuvres at junctions across side roads either within the carriageway or on adjacent cycle tracks and what is the ability of the AV to come to a correct decision about its behaviour in relation to the cyclist or cyclists?	High	This is a key question that the trials need to answer
3.4.5	Will AVs be regarded any differently by cycle users in terms of where they allocate attention as they approach an AV in a queue with the intention of overtaking it, and will cyclists make different decisions about whether to overtake the AV or undertake it, and what will be cyclists perceptions of risk when they approach an AV when it is in a queue?	Medium	These questions relate to important aspects of the perception of AVs, however, they are, relatively speaking, secondary in nature relative to other issues such as gap acceptance.
3.4.6	What is the extent to which AVs are able to decipher cyclists arm signals accurately at junctions?	High	It is important to understand the ability of an AV to interpret human gestures
3.4.7	What legislative changes might be particularly appropriate or helpful in the context of managing AV interactions with other road users?	Medium	This question may be answerable as a consequence of the overall research and not necessarily emanating from the trials of interactions per se.
3.5	What roles will cyclists and pedestrians have in a driverless society and how will the presence of driverless vehicles change pedestrians' and cyclists' facility preferences and behaviour?	High	Not possible in the trials but some suggestions feasible from wider public engagement
4.1.7	How ought the Highway Code to be adapted to provide guidance to pedestrians (and other road users) on how to negotiate right of way with autonomous vehicles?	Low	The research will present some ideas which will be helpful in moving towards an answer to this question

4.2.3	How do AVs affect perceptions of shared space amongst different road users? (See also research question from section 2.3.4)	Medium	User perception of AV behaviour in shared space is an important area for research and we will be able to address this question to some extent through public engagement activity.
4.2.4	Will the 'barrier effects' of mixed traffic streams to pedestrians be increased or reduced by the presence of AVs?	Low	The Venturer trial will be using only one AV and hence will not be able to address this issue.
4.2.4	Will pedestrians feel more or less able to gain priority over AVs (compared to driven vehicles) in Shared Spaces?	Low	The Venturer trial will be using only one AV and hence will not be able to address this issue.
4.3.1	How will AV sensing be able to detect and react to signals that pedestrians are gesturing and how will these be interpreted by the AV in its decision making?	High	Understanding how AVs relate to pedestrians in the urban environment is critical to their success in this type of environment.
4.3.1	Will AVs be able to detect different types of pedestrian (e.g. children and older people) in the environment and be primed to respond to potential crossing interactions accordingly.	Low	It is assumed that the technology is not sufficiently advanced to be able to detect these differences currently.
4.3.1	Will pedestrians adjust the gap that they are prepared to accept to make a crossing of a road when the next approaching vehicle is demonstrably an AV rather than a human-driven vehicle?	High	Understanding pedestrian gap acceptance differences with AVs is important
4.3.1	Will pedestrians' intention to cross change as the approaching vehicle is demonstrably an AV?	High	This is an important issue that is possible to assess as part of the Venturer study
4.3.1	Will this intention to cross vary according to demographic (age, gender) or situational characteristics (traffic volume, road type, prior experience of AVs)?	Medium	It will be harder to assess this issue because of the degree of variability in the variables.
4.3.2	Are AVs programmable to effectively and automatically adapt their speed within zebra crossing 'decision zones' regardless of whether pedestrians are present?	High	It would be feasible to test for the effect of such differential programming on pedestrian behaviour

4.3.2	What is the extent to which AVs are programmable to effectively and consistently respond to different types of crossing treatment?	Medium	The variability in circumstances is difficult to test within the context of the proposed trials
4.3.2	How good are AVs at detecting pedestrians approaching and crossing side roads and are they able to respond accordingly?	High	This is a very common conflict and easily able to be tested in the trials
4.3.2	How do pedestrians react to a vehicle which is demonstrably autonomous when deciding whether to start to cross a side road?	High	This is a very common conflict and easily able to be tested in the trials
4.3.4	What is the extent to which an AV will be able to detect the significant non-compliance with signal controlled crossings by pedestrians who have become frustrated with the delay imposed on them by the signalisation of crossings?	Low	It will be a difficult task to create the right conditions to test this question
4.3.4	How will AVs respond to non-compliance (i.e. would an AV be required to defer to a pedestrian in its path in all situations when safe to do so, even on higher-speed roads)?	Low	It will be a difficult task to create the right conditions to test this question
4.4.3	How does the general population think AVs ought to be programmed to take action in the event of unavoidable collisions involving pedestrians?	High	This is a very important question and one that we may begin to seek answers to through the public engagement activities.

References

AAA (2009) Aggressive Driving: Research Update April, 2009. American Automobile Association. https://www.aaafoundation.org/sites/default/files/AggressiveDrivingResearchUpdate2009.pdf [Accessed 9th February 2016]

Adams, J. 2015. SELF DRIVING CARS AND THE CHILD–BALL PROBLEM: WHY AUTONOMOUS VEHICLES ARE NOT THE ANSWER. Retrieved from: http://essays.centreforlondon.org/issues/technology/self-driving-cars-and-the-child-ball-problem-why-autonomous-vehicles-are-not-the-answer/

Asbridge, M., Smart, R. G., & Mann, R. E. (2003). The 'homogamy' of road rage: Understanding the relationship between victimization and offending among aggressive and violent motorists. Violence and Victims 18 (5) pp517-531.

Audi (2015) Audi piloted driving

http://www.audi.com/content/com/brand/en/vorsprung_durch_technik/content/2014/10/piloteddriving.html [Accessed 12th February 2016]

Baass, K. (1989) Review of European and North American practice of pedestrian signal timing. Prepared for RTAC Annual Conference Calgary, Alberta

Baddeley, A. (1992) Working memory. Science 255 (5044), 556–559.

Bagdadi, O. (2013) Estimation of the severity of safety critical events. Accident analysis and prevention 50 pp167-174.

Bonnefon, J.F., Shariff, A. and Rahwan, I. (2015) Autonomous Vehicles Need Experimental Ethics: Are We Ready for Utilitarian Cars?. arXiv preprint arXiv:1510.03346.

Brewer, M., Fitzpatrick, K., Whitacre, J. and Lord, D. (2006) Exploration of pedestrian gap-acceptance behavior at selected locations. Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board, (1982), pp.132-140.

Buchanan, C. (1963) Traffic in Towns. Report of the Steering Group. TSO, London.

Calvert, T. (2015) An exploration of the urban pedestrian experience, including how it is affected by the presence of motor traffic. PhD, University of the West of England.

Chapman, J.R. & Noyce, D.A., 2012. Observations of Driver Behavior During Overtaking of Bicycles on Rural Roads. Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board, (2321), pp.38–45.

Chuang, K., Hsu, C. & Lai, C., 2013. The use of a quasi-naturalistic riding method to investigate bicyclists ' behaviors when motorists pass. Accident Analysis and Prevention, 56, pp.32–41. Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.aap.2013.03.029.

CIHT (2010) Manual for Streets 2: wider application of the principles. Chartered Institution of Highways and Transportation, London.

CLG/DfT (2007). Manual for Streets. Available at: <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/manual-for-streets</u> [Accessed 12th February 2016]

Cnossen, F., Meijman, T. and Rothengatter, T. (2004) Adaptive strategy changes as a function of task demands: a study of car drivers. Ergonomics 47 (2) pp218-236,

Cohen, J., Dearnaley, E. J. and Hansel, C. E. M. (1955) The risk taken in crossing a road, OR: Journal of the Operational Research Society, 6, pp. 120–128.

Cowan, R.J. (1979) The Uncontrolled Traffic Merge. Journal of applied probability 16 pp384-392.

Cresswell, C., Griffiths, J. D. and Hunt, J. G. (1978) Site evaluation of a pelican crossing simulation model, Traffic Engineering and Control, 19, pp. 546–549

Cross, K.D. and Fisher, G., 1977. A Study of Bicycle/Motor Vehicle Accidents: Identification of Problem Types and Countermeasure Approaches. National Highway Traffic Safety Administration, Washington, DC.

Dąbrowski. P. (1998) Psychological aspects of aggressive behavior in traffic of drivers – parents transporting children. Studia Gdańskie. Wizje i rzeczywistość (Studies Gdansk. Visions and Reality)

Dahlen, E. R., Martin, R. C., Ragan, K., and Kuhlman, M. M. (2005) Driving anger, sensation seeking, impulsiveness, and boredom proneness in the prediction of unsafe driving. Accident Analysis & Prevention 37 (2) pp341-348. (Cited in Schafer, 2015)

Daniels, S., Brijs, T., Nuyts, E. and Wets, G., 2009. Injury crashes with bicyclists at roundabouts: influence of some location characteristics and the design of cycle facilities. Journal of safety research, 40(2), pp.141-148.

Das, S., Manski, C. F. and Manuszak, M. D. (2005) Walk or wait? An empirical analysis of street crossing decisions, Journal of Applied Econometrics, 20, pp. 529–548.

Davies, H. E. H. (1992) The puffin pedestrian crossing: experience with the first experimental sites. Research Report 364. Transport Research Laboratory, Crowthorne, UK.

De Ceunynck, T., Polders, E., Daniels, S., Hermans, E., Brijs, T. and Wets, G. (2013) Road Safety Differences Between Priority-Controlled Intersections and Right-Hand Priority Intersections: Behavioral Analysis of Vehicle–Vehicle Interactions. Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board, No. 2365, pp. 39–48.

de Lavalette, B.C., Tijus, C., Poitrenaud, S., Leproux, C., Bergeron, J. and Thouez, J.P. (2009) Pedestrian crossing decision-making: A situational and behavioral approach. Safety Science, 47(9), pp.1248-1253.

Department of Transport (1987) Roads and Traffic in Urban Areas. London: Department of Transport.

DfT (2007) Manual for Streets. Available from http://www.communities.gov.uk/publications/planningandbuilding/manualforstreets

DfT (2015a) Contributory factors to reported road accidents 2014 (RAS50). Table RAS50002. Department for Transport. https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/ras50-contributory-factors#table-ras50001 (Accessed 5th February 2016)

DfT (2015b) The pathway to driverless cars: a code of practice for testing. Department for Transport: London

DfT (2016) The Highway Code [online] Available from https://www.gov.uk/guidance/the-highway-code [Accessed 21st February 2016]

DfT (2016) The Highway Code. https://www.gov.uk/guidance/the-highway-code [Accessed 8th February 2016]

Dill, J. & Mcneil, N., 2013. Four Types of Cyclists ? Examination of Typology for Better Understanding of Bicycling Behavior and Potential. Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board, (2387), pp.129–138.

Dingus, T. A., Klauer, S.G., Neale, V. L., Petersen, A., Lee, S. E., Sudweeks, J., Perez, M. A., Hankey, J., Ramsey, D., Gupta, S., Bucher, C., Doerzaph, Z. R., Jermeland, J., and Knipling, R.R. (2006) The 100-Car Naturalistic Driving Study Phase II – Results of the 100-Car Field Experiment. National Highway Traffic Safety Administration. DOT HS 810 593

Dresner, K. and Stone, P. (2005) Multi-agent traffic management: an improved intersection control mechanism. Fourth International Joint Conference on Autonomous Agents and Multi-Agent Systems. Utrecht University, The Netherlands, 25th to 29th July 2005.

Dukic, T. and Broberg, T. (2012) Older drivers' visual search behaviour at intersections. Transportation Research Part F 15 pp462–470

Eustace, D. (2001) Pedestrian reaction to crossing signal delay, Journal of Transportation Research Forum, 40, pp. 118–128.

Evans, D. and Norman, P. (1998) Understanding pedestrians' road crossing decisions: an application of the theory of planned behaviour. Health Education Research, 13(4), pp.481-489.

Forbes (2014) An update on the Baidu-BMW driver-less car deal as further details emerge [online]. Available from: http://www.forbes.com/sites/greatspeculations/2014/10/03/an-update-on-the-baidu-bmw-driver-less-car-deal-as-further-details-emerge/ [Accessed 12th February 2016]

Fraser, S.D.S. & Lock, K., 2010. Cycling for transport and public health : a systematic review of the effect of the environment on cycling. European Journal of Public Health, 21(6), pp.738–743.

Frings, D., Parkin, J. & Ridley, A.M., 2014. The effects of cycle lanes , vehicle to kerb distance and vehicle type on cyclists ' attention allocation during junction negotiation. Accident Analysis and Prevention, 72, pp.411–421. Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.aap.2014.07.034.

Fyfe (1998) Images of the street: Planning, identity and control in public space. Routledge: London.

Gandhi, T. and Trivedi, M. (2007) Pedestrian protection systems: Issues, survey and challenges. IEEE Transactions on Intelligent Transportation Systems, 8(3), pp.413-430.

Garrard, J., Handy, S. and Dill, J., 2012. Women and cycling. In Pucher and Buehler eds. City cycling. MIT Press, pp.211-234.

Gates, T. J., Noyce, D. A., Bill, A. R. and Van Ee, N. (2006) Recommended walking speeds for pedestrian clearance timing based on pedestrian characteristics. Paper presented at the 85th Annual Meeting of the Transportation Research Board, Washington, DC, USA.

Gerike, R. and Parkin, J. eds., 2015. Cycling Futures: From Research into Practice. Ashgate Publishing, Ltd.

Gibbard, A. et al., 2004. The effect of road narrowings on cyclists,

Goldhill (2015) Should driverless cars kill their own passengers to save a pedestrian [online] Available from http://qz.com/536738/should-driverless-cars-kill-their-own-passengers-to-save-a-pedestrian/ [Accessed 21st February 2016]

Goodman A (2013) Walking, Cycling and Driving to Work in the English and Welsh 2011 Census: Trends, Socio-Economic Patterning and Relevance to Travel Behaviour in General. PLoS ONE 8(8): e71790

Gray, L. N., and Tallman, I. (1984). A satisfaction balance model of decision making and choice behavior. Social Psychology Quarterly 47 pp146-1 59.

Griffiths, J. D., Hunt, J. G. and Marlow, M. (1984) Delays at pedestrian crossings: 1. Site observations and the interpretation of data, Traffic Engineering and Control, 25, pp. 365–371.

Gstaltera, H., Fastenmeierb, W. (2010) Reliability of drivers in urban intersections Accident analysis and prevention 42 pp225-234

Hamed, M.M., (2001) Analysis of pedestrians' behavior at pedestrian crossings. Safety Science, 38(1), pp.63-82.

Hamilton-Baillie, B. and Jones, P. (2005) Improving traffic behaviour and safety through urban design. Proceedings of ICE: Civil Engineering. 158, 39-47.

Hanowski, R.J., Hickman, J.S., Wierwille, W.W., Keisler, A. (2007) A descriptive analysis of light vehicle– heavy vehicle interactions using in situ driving data. Accident analysis and prevention 39 pp169-179

Hardy, B. and Fenner, R.A. (2015) Towards the sustainability of road transport through the introduction of AV technology. Proceedings of the Institution of Civil Engineers: Engineering sustainability 168 (ES5) pp192–203

Harrell, W.A. and Spaulding, L.M. (2001) Social Psychological Models of Choice Behavior and Drivers' Left Turns. The Journal of Social Psychology 141 (6) pp714-722

Havârneanu, G.M., Havârneanu, C.E. (2012) When norms turn perverse: Contextual irrationality vs. rational traffic violations. *Transportation Research Part F* **15** pp144–151.

Hels, T. and Orozova-Bekkevold, I., 2007. The effect of roundabout design features on cyclist accident rate. Accident Analysis & Prevention, 39(2), pp.300-307.

Hennessy, D. A. (2011) Social, personality, and affective constructs in driving. In B.E. Porter

Hennessy, D. A., and Wiesenthal, D. L. (2005). Driving vengeance and willful violations: Clustering of problem driving attitudes. Applied Social Psychology 35 pp61-79. (Cited in Schafer, 2015)

Herslund, M-B., Jørgensen, N.O. (2003) Looked-but-failed-to-see-errors in traffic. Accident Analysis and Prevention 35 pp885–891

Highways England (2006) Layout of grade separated junctions. TD22/06 Design Manual for Road and Bridges 6.2.1 Highways England. http://www.standardsforhighways.co.uk/ [Accessed 9th February 2016]

Hine, J., Russell, J. (1996) The impact of traffic on pedestrian behaviour: 2. Assessing the traffic barrier on radial routes, Traffic Engineering and Control, 37(2): 81-85.

Holland, C. and Hill, R., (2007) The effect of age, gender and driver status on pedestrians' intentions to cross the road in risky situations. Accident Analysis & Prevention, 39(2), pp.224-237.

Hydén, C. (1987) The development of a method for traffic safety evaluation: The Swedish Traffic Conflicts Technique. Department of Traffic Planning and Engineering. Lund University, Lund, Sweden

Ishaque, M.M. and Noland, R.B., (2008) Behavioural issues in pedestrian speed choice and street crossing behaviour: a review. Transport Reviews, 28(1), pp.61-85.

Jaffe, E. 2015. These Futuristic Driverless Car Intersections Forgot About Pedestrians and Cyclists. The Atlantic CityLab. Retrieved from: http://www.citylab.com/tech/2015/06/these-futuristic-driverless-car-intersections-forgot-about-pedestrians-and-cyclists/394847/

Joint, M. (1997) Road Rage. In: American Automobile Association Foundation for traffic safety. Aggressive Driving: Three Studies. https://www.aaafoundation.org/sites/default/files/agdr3study.pdf [Accessed 9th February 2016]

Jonah, B. A. (1997) Sensation seeking and risky driving: A review and synthesis of the literature. Accident Analysis & Prevention 29 pp651–665. (Cited in Schafer *et al.*, 2015)

Kaparias, I., Bell, M., Dong, W., Sastrawinata, A., Singh, A., Wang, X. and Mount, B., (2013) Analysis of pedestrian-vehicle traffic conflicts in street designs with elements of shared space. Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board, (2393), pp.21-30.

Kaparias, I., Bell, M.G., Miri, A., Chan, C. and Mount, B., (2012) Analysing the perceptions of pedestrians and drivers to shared space. Transportation research part F: traffic psychology and behaviour, 15(3), pp.297-310.

Kimber, R. M. and COOMBE, R.D. (1980). The traffic capacity of major/minor priority junctions. Department of the Environment Department of Transport, TRRL Report SR 582. Crowthorne: Transport and Road Research Laboratory.

Kimber, R.M. (1980). The traffic capacity of roundabouts. Department of the Environment Department of Transport, TRRL Report LR 942. Crowthorne: Transport and Road Research Laboratory.

Kountouriotisa, G. K., Merat, N. (2016) Leading to distraction: Driver distraction, lead car, and road environment. Accident Analysis and Prevention 89 pp22–30

Kroll, B.J. & Ramey, M.R., 1977. Effects of bike lanes on driver and bicyclist behavior. Journal of Transportation Engineering, 103(2). Available at: http://trid.trb.org/view.aspx?id=53090#.VsHiCFaO6iY.mendeley [Accessed February 15, 2016].

Lajunen, T., Parker, D., Summala, H. (2004) The Manchester Driver Behaviour Questionnaire: a cross-cultural study. Accident Analysis and Prevention 36 pp231–238

Legree, P.J., Heffner, T.S., Psotka, J., Martin, D.E., Medsker, G.J., (2003) Traffic Crash Involvement: Experiential Driving Knowledge and Stressful Contextual Antecedents. *Journal of Applied Psychology* **88** (1) pp15–26 Leibowitz, H.W., Owens, D.A., Tyrrell, R.A. (1998) The assured clear distance ahead rule: Implications for night time traffic safety and the law. Accident analysis and prevention 30 pp93-99

Lemonnier, S., Brémond, R., Baccino, T. (2015) Gaze behavior when approaching an intersection: Dwell time distribution and comparison with a quantitative prediction. Transportation Research Part F 35 pp60–74

Lewis, D. 2015. Google's Driverless Car Got Confused By A Cyclist. The Smithsonian. Retrieved from http://www.smithsonianmag.com/smart-news/googles-driverless-car-got-confused-cyclist-180956465/?no-ist

Liu, B-S (2007) Association of intersection approach speed with driver characteristics, vehicle type and traffic conditions comparing urban and suburban areas. Accident Analysis and Prevention 39 pp216–223

Marshall, S. (2005). Transit-Oriented Hierarchy: Towards an Integrated Transport Network Structure. Unpublished paper presented at Annual UTSG Conference.

Miles, D. E., & Johnson, G. L. (2003). Aggressive driving behaviors: are there psychological and attitudinal predictors? Transportation Research Part F: Traffic Psychology & Behaviour 6 (2) pp147-161 (Cited in Schafer, 2015)

Moody, S. and Melia, S. (2014) Shared space – research, policy and problems. *Proceedings of the Institution of Civil Engineers – Transport* **167** (6) pp. 384-392

Moody, S. and Melia, S. (2014) Shared space: Research, policy and problems. Proceedings of the Institution of Civil Engineers - Transport, 167 (6). pp. 384-392. ISSN 0965-092X

NHTSA (2000) Aggressive Driver Enforcement: Strategies for implementing best practices. National Highway Traffic Safety Administration. http://ruralsafetycenter.org/resources/list/nhtsa-aggressive-driving-enforcement/ [Accessed 9th February 2016]

NHTSA (2013) Preliminary Statement of Policy Concerning Automated Vehicles [online] National Highway Traffic Safety Administration. Available from

http://www.nhtsa.gov/About+NHTSA/Press+Releases/U.S.+Department+of+Transportation+Releases+Polic y+on+Automated+Vehicle+Development [Accessed 3rd December 2015]

Özkan, T., Lajunen, T., Summala, H. (2006) Driver Behaviour Questionnaire: A follow-up study Accident analysis and prevention 38 pp386-395

Pai, C., 2011. Overtaking , rear-end , and door crashes involving bicycles : An empirical investigation. Accident Analysis and Prevention, 43(3), pp.1228–1235. Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.aap.2011.01.004.

Parkin, J. & Meyers, C., 2010. The effect of cycle lanes on the proximity between motor traffic and cycle traffic. Accident Analysis and Prevention, 42, pp.159–165.

Parkin, J. and Smithies, N. (2012) Accounting for the needs of blind and visually impaired people in public realm design. Journal of urban design 17(1), pp135-149.

Parkin, J., Wardman, M. & Page, M., 2007. Models of perceived cycling risk and route acceptability. Accident Analysis and Prevention, 39, pp.364–371.

Parkin, J. and Wilson, R. (2010) Adequacy of operation and delay to pedestrians and vehicles under 'Pelican' and 'Puffin' type control at signal controlled crossings. Proceedings of the 12th World Conference on Transport Research, 11th-15th July 2010, Lisbon, Portugal.

Phil Jones Associates Ltd, 2016. British Cycling Policy Support Cycling Priority at Junctions, Manchester.

Pucher, J. and Buehler, R. eds., 2012. City cycling. MIT Press.

Reason, J., Manstead, A., Stradling, S., Baxter, J. and Campbell, K. (1990) Errors and violations on the roads: a real distinction? Ergonomics 33 (10/11) p1315-1332.

Risser, R. (1985) Behavior in traffic conflict situations. Accident Analysis and Prevention 2 pp179-197

Robinson, B.J. & Scoon, J., 2013. Cycle Regulations Review - Final Report, London.

RoSPA (2011) Inappropriate Speed. Royal Society for the Prevention of Accidents. http://www.rospa.com/road-safety/advice/drivers/speed/inappropriate/ [Accessed 9th February 2016]

Rumar, K. (1985) The role of perceptual and cognitive filters in observed behaviour. In: Evans, L., Schwing, R.C. (Eds.), Human Behaviour and Traffic Safety. Plenum Press, New York, pp. 151–165 (Cited in Lajunen *et al.*, 2004)

Sabey, B. E. and Taylor, H. (1980) The known risks we run: the highway. Transport and Road Research Laboratory. Supplementary Report 567. Crowthorne, Berkshire.

Salter, R.J. and Hounsell, N. (1996) Highway traffic analysis and design 3rd Edition. Macmillan.

Sanders, (2002) Aggression and violence associated with motor vehicle use pp315-363. In: Ian J. Faulks (Ed.) Bullying, intimidation, abuse and assault on the road – selected Australasian research and comment on 'road rage' and aggressive driving. Report No. 18/52

Sansone, R. A., and Sansone, L. A. (2010) Road Rage: What's Driving It? Psychiatry (Edgmont) 7 (7) p14. (Cited in Schafer, 2015)

Schafer, K. (2015) The Road Rage and Aggressive Driving Dichotomy: Personality and Attribution Factors in Driver Aggression. HIM 1990-2015. Paper 611

Schechtmana, E., Bar-Geraa, H., Musicant, O. (2016) Driver views on speed and enforcement. *Accident Analysis and Prevention* **89** pp9–21

Schreiber, M., Ortlepp, J., Butterwegge, P. and Gehlert, T., 2015. Designing safe intersections: determinants of accidents involving cyclists and turning vehicles and strategies for their reduction. In Gerike and Parkin eds. Cycling Futures: From Research into Practice. Ashgate Publishing, Ltd.

Shackel, S.C. & Parkin, J., 2014. Influence of road markings , lane widths and driver behaviour on proximity and speed of vehicles overtaking cyclists. Accident Analysis and Prevention, 73, pp.100–108. Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.aap.2014.08.015.

Simonite, T. (2013). Data shows Google's robot cars are smoother, safer drivers than you or I. MIT Technology Review. Available from: http://www.technologyreview.com/news/520746/data-shows-googles-robot-cars-are-smoother-safer-drivers-than-you-or-i/ [Accessed 12th February 2016].

Sisiopiku, V. P., and D. Akin. (2003) Pedestrian behaviors at and perceptions towards various pedestrian facilities: an examination based on observation and survey data. Transportation Research Part F: Traffic Psychology and Behaviour 6.4: 249-274.

Sjostedt, L. (1967) Behaviour of Pedestrians at Pedestrian Crossings (Stockholm: National Swedish Road Research Institute).

Sleight, R. B. (1972) The pedestrian, in: T. W. Forbes (Ed.) Human Factors in Highway Safety Research (New York, NY: Wiley).

Smart, R. G., and Mann, R. E. (2002) Is road rage a serious traffic problem? Traffic Injury Prevention 3 (3) pp183-189 (Cited in Schafer, 2015)

Sorock, G.S., Ranney, T.A, and Lehto, M.R. (1996) Motor vehicle crashes in roadway construction workzones: an analysis using narrative text from insurance claims. *Accident analysis and prevention* 28 (1) pp. 131-138

Stewart, K. & McHale, A., 2014. Cycle lanes : their effect on driver passing distances in urban areas. Transport, 29(3), pp.307–316.

Sucha, M. (2014) Pedestrian and driver encounters, communication and decision strategies. Department of Psychology, University in Olomouc, Czech Republic.

Sullman, M.J.M., Stephens, A.N., Yong, M. (2015) Anger, aggression and road rage behaviour in Malaysian drivers. Transportation Research Part F 29 pp70–82

Summala, H., and Hietamäki, J. (1984) Drivers' immediate responses to traffic signs. *Ergonomics*. 27 (2). Pp. 205-216.

Svensson, A. and Hydén, C. (2006) Estimating the severity of safety related behaviour. Accident Analysis and Prevention 38 pp379–385.

Taylor, N. (2003) The Aesthetic Experience of traffic in the modern city. Urban Studies. 40 (8), pp. 1609-1625

Tesla (2015) Model S Software Version 7.0. *Tesla Model S Press Release*. Online (available from: <u>https://www.teslamotors.com/presskit/autopilot</u>);

Thompson, C. (2014) When pedestrians ruled the streets [online] Available from http://www.smithsonianmag.com/innovation/when-pedestrians-ruled-streets-180953396/?no-ist [Accessed 21st February 2016]

Thrift, N. (2004) Driving in the city. Theory, culture and society. 21 (4/5) pp 41-59

Troutbeck, R.J. (1990) Traffic interactions at roundabouts. Australian Road Research Board (ARRB) Conference, 15th, 1990, Darwin, Northern Territory, pages 15-42.

Trump, D. (2015) What can our transportation infrastructure learn from autonomous vehicles? Assignment submission for Transport Infrastructure Engineering Module on MSc Transport Engineering and Planning, UWE. Unpublished.

Turner, S., Fitzpatrick, K., Brewer, M. and Park, E., (2006) Motorist yielding to pedestrians at unsignalized intersections: Findings from a national study on improving pedestrian safety. Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board, (1982), pp.1-12.

Twisk, D.A.M., Davise, R.J. and Shepers, P., 2015. Challenges in reducing bicycle casualties with high volume cycle use: lessons from the Netherlands. In Gerike and Parkin eds. Cycling Futures:

United States Patent Office (2015) Patent number 9196164: Pedestrian notifications [online] Available from http://patft.uspto.gov/netacgi/nph-

Parser?Sect1=PTO1&Sect2=HITOFF&d=PALL&p=1&u=%2Fnetahtml%2FPTO%2Fsrchnum.htm&r=1&f=G&I=5 0&s1=9196164.PN.&OS=PN/9196164&RS=PN/9196164 [Accessed 12th February 2016].

Van Middlesworth, M., Dresner, K. and Stone, P. (2008) Replacing the stop sign: unmanaged intersection control for autonomous vehicles (Short Paper). Proc. of 7th Int. Conf. on Autonomous Agents and Multi-agent Systems (AAMAS 2008) Padgham, Parkes, Müller and Parsons (eds.), May, 12-16, 2008, Estoril, Portugal, pp.1413-1416.

Varhelyi, A., (1998) Drivers' speed behaviour at a zebra crossing: a case study. Accident Analysis & Prevention, 30(6), pp.731-743.

Volvo Car Group. (2014) Volvo Car Group's first self-driving autopilot cars test on public roads around Gothenburg. Available from: https://www.media.volvocars.com/global/en-gb/media/pressreleases/145619/volvo-car-groups-first-self-driving-autopilot-cars-test-on-public-roads-around-gothenburg [Accessed 12th February 2016]

Volvo Car Group. (2015). Volvo Cars presents a unique system solution for integrating self-driving cars into real traffic [online]. Available from: https://www.media.volvocars.com/global/en-gb/media/pressreleases/158276/volvo-cars-presents-a-unique-system-solution-for-integrating-self-driving-cars-into-real-traffic [Accessed 12th February 2016].

Walker, I. & Brosnan, M., 2007. Drivers ' gaze fixations during judgements about a bicyclist ' s intentions. Transportation Research Part F, 10, pp.90–98.

Walker, I., 2005. Signals are informative but slow down responses when drivers meet bicyclists at road junctions. Accident Analysis and Prevention, 37, pp.1074–1085.

Walker, I., 2007. Drivers overtaking bicyclists : Objective data on the effects of riding position, helmet use, vehicle type and apparent gender. Accident Analysis and Prevention, 39, pp.417–425.

Walker, I., Garrard, I. & Jowitt, F., 2014. The influence of a bicycle commuter's appearance on drivers' overtaking proximities : An on-road test of bicyclist stereotypes, high-visibility clothing and safety aids in the United Kingdom. Accident Analysis and Prevention, 64, pp.69–77. Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.aap.2013.11.007.

Walker, R., Winnett, M., Martin, A. and Kennedy, J., (2005) Puffin crossing operation and behaviour study (No. PPR239). TRL Limited.

Wickens, C. D., Goh, J., Helleberg, J., Horrey, W. J., and Talleur, D. A. (2003) Attentional models of multitask pilot performance using advanced display technology. Human Factors 45 pp360–380.

Wickens, C. M., Wiesenthal, D. L., Flora, D. B., and Flett, G. L. (2011). Understanding driver anger and aggression: attributional theory in the driving environment. Experimental Psychology: Applied 17 (4) pp354. (Cited in Schafer, 2015)

Wickens, C.D. (2002) Multiple resources and performance prediction. Theor. IssuesErgon. Sci. 3 (2), 159–177. (Cited in Kountouriotisa and Merat, 2016)

Willis, A., Gjersoe, N., Havard, C., Kerridge, J. and Kukla, R., (2004) Human movement behaviour in urban spaces: implications for the design and modelling of effective pedestrian environments. Environment and Planning B: Planning and Design, 31(6), pp.805-828.

Wilson, D. G. and Grayson, G. B. (1980) Age-Related Differences in the Road Crossing Behaviour of Adult Pedestrians. Report No. LR 933 (Berkshire, UK: Transport Research Laboratory).

Winters, M. *et al.*, 2011. Motivators and deterrents of bicycling : comparing influences on decisions to ride. Transportation, 38, pp.153–168.

Wood, J.M., Lacherez, P.F., Marszalek, R.P. and King, M.J., 2009. Drivers' and cyclists' experiences of sharing the road: Incidents, attitudes and perceptions of visibility. Accident Analysis & Prevention, 41(4), pp.772-776.

Wu, J., Austin, R. and Chen, C.L., 2011. Incidence rates of pedestrian and bicyclist crashes by hybrid electric passenger vehicles: an update. National Highway Traffic Safety Administration. Washington, DC.

York, I., Bradbury, A., Reid, S., Ewings, T. and Paradise, R. (2007) The Manual for Streets: evidence and research. TRL Report TRL661. Transport Research Laboratory, Crowthorne.

Appendix A: Extracts from the UK Highway Code for Pedestrians

Rule 1:

Pavements (including any path along the side of a road) should be used if provided. Where possible, avoid being next to the kerb with your back to the traffic. If you have to step into the road, look both ways first. Always show due care and consideration for others.

Rule 2:

If there is no pavement, keep to the right-hand side of the road so that you can see oncoming traffic.

Rule 4:

Young children should not be out alone on the pavement or road (see Rule 7). When taking children out, keep between them and the traffic and hold their hands firmly. Strap very young children into push-chairs or use reins."

Crossing the road

Rule 7:

First find a safe place to cross and where there is space to reach the pavement on the other side. Where there is a crossing nearby, use it. It is safer to cross using a subway, a footbridge, an island, a zebra, pelican, toucan or puffin crossing, or where there is a crossing point controlled by a police officer, a school crossing patrol or a traffic warden. Otherwise choose a place where you can see clearly in all directions. Try to avoid crossing between parked cars (see Rule 14), on a blind bend, or close to the brow of a hill. Move to a space where drivers and riders can see you clearly. Do not cross the road diagonally.

Rule 8

At a junction. When crossing the road, look out for traffic turning into the road, especially from behind you. If you have started crossing and traffic wants to turn into the road, you have priority and they should give way

Rule 9

Pedestrian Safety Barriers. Where there are barriers, cross the road only at the gaps provided for pedestrians. Do not climb over the barriers or walk between them and the road.

Using crossings

Rule 18

At all crossings. When using any type of crossing you should

always check that the traffic has stopped before you start to cross or push a pram onto a crossing

always cross between the studs or over the zebra markings. Do not cross at the side of the crossing or on the zig-zag lines, as it can be dangerous.

You MUST NOT loiter on any type of crossing. – This is a law

Rule 19:

Zebra crossings. Give traffic plenty of time to see you and to stop before you start to cross. Vehicles will need more time when the road is slippery. Wait until traffic has stopped from both directions or the road is clear before crossing. Remember that traffic does not have to stop until someone has moved onto the crossing. Keep looking both ways, and listening, in case a driver or rider has not seen you and attempts to overtake a vehicle that has stopped.

Rule 21

At traffic lights. There may be special signals for pedestrians. You should only start to cross the road when the green figure shows. If you have started to cross the road and the green figure goes out, you should still have time to reach the other side, but do not delay. If no pedestrian signals have been provided, watch carefully and do not cross until the traffic lights are red and the traffic has stopped. Keep looking and check for traffic that may be turning the corner. Remember that traffic lights may let traffic move in some lanes while traffic in other lanes has stopped.

Rule 191:

Rules for using the road:

Crossings

You MUST NOT park on a crossing or in the area covered by the zig-zag lines. You MUST NOT overtake the moving vehicle nearest the crossing or the vehicle nearest the crossing which has stopped to give way to pedestrians.

Rule 195

Zebra crossings. As you approach a zebra crossing

- look out for pedestrians waiting to cross and be ready to slow down or stop to let them cross
- you MUST give way when a pedestrian has moved onto a crossing
- allow more time for stopping on wet or icy roads
- do not wave or use your horn to invite pedestrians across; this could be dangerous if another vehicle is approaching
- be aware of pedestrians approaching from the side of the crossing.